
 

 

 

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

Finance, Legal, Administration, & Real Estate Committee Meeting 

October 8, 2019 

 

1 

 

  
A meeting of the Finance, Legal, Administration, & Real Estate Committee of the Desert Healthcare 
District will be held at 3:00 PM, Tuesday, October 8, 2019, in the conference room on the 2nd floor of the 
Jerry Stergios Building, 1140 N. Indian Canyon Drive, Palm Springs, California. 
 

   
 

 

AGENDA 
 

 I.  CALL TO ORDER  
   
 II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
   
 III. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
At this time, comments from the audience may be made on items not listed on the agenda that are of public 
interest and within the subject-matter jurisdiction of the District. The Committee has a policy of limiting 
speakers to not more than three minutes. The Committee cannot take action on items not listed on the 
agenda. Public input may be offered on an agenda item when it comes up for discussion and/or action. 

   
 IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. F&A Minutes – Meeting September 10, 2019 – Pg. 3-8  
ACTION 

                            
 V.  CEO REPORT  
   
 VI. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT – Pg. 9 

1. LPMP Leasing Update – Pg. 10 
 

Information 
   
 VII. FINANCIAL REPORTS ACTION 
 1. District and LPMP Financial Statements – Pg. 11-22 

2. Accounts Receivable Aging Summary – Pg. 23 
3. District - Deposits – Pg. 24 
4. District - Property tax receipts – Pg. 25 
5. LPMP – Deposits – Pg. 26-27 
6. District – Check Register – Pg. 28-29 
7. Credit Card – Detail of Expenditures – Pg. 30 
8. LPMP – Check Register – Pg. 31 
9. Retirement Protection Plan Update – Pg. 32 
10. Grant Payment Schedule – Pg. 33 

 

   
 VIII.  OTHER MATTERS       

1. Craig Hartzheim – Moss Levy & Hartzheim – FY 2019 Audit Reports – District & 
RPP 

             a.  Management Letter, Communication Letter, Internal Controls Report – Pg. 34-43 
             b.  District Audit Report – Pg. 44-85 
             c.  RPP Audit Report – Pg. 86-103 

2. Auditing Firms – Request for Proposal – Pg. 104-108 
3. LPMP Lease Renewal – Suite 3E 104-105 – Laboratory Corporation of America – 

Pg. 109-130 
4. Las Palmas Medical Plaza - Fire Sprinkler Alarm Proposal – Pg. 131-136 
5. Political Consultants for Potential Hospital Lease/Transaction – Pg. 137 
6. Policy Map – 15 Month Subscription - $5,005.54 – Pg. 138-146 

 
ACTION 

 
 
 

 
ACTION 
ACTION 

 
ACTION 
ACTION 

Information 

Page 1 of 146



 

 

 

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

Finance, Legal, Administration, & Real Estate Committee Meeting 

October 8, 2019 

 

2 

 

   
  IX.   ADJOURNMENT  
   
   
 If you have any disability which would require accommodation to enable you to participate in 

this meeting, please email Andrea S. Hayles, Special Assistant to the CEO and Board 
Relations Officer, at ahayles@dhcd.org or call (760) 323-6110 at least 24 hours prior to the 
meeting. 

 

  

Page 2 of 146

mailto:ahayles@dhcd.org


 
  

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE, LEGAL, AND COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
September 10, 2019 

 

Page 1 of 6 
Finance, Administration Real Estate, Legal, and Hospital Governance & Oversight Committee Minutes 

September 10, 2019 

 
 
AGENDA ITEMS    DISCUSSION                   ACTION   

Directors Present District Staff Present Absent  

Chairman/Treasurer Mark Matthews  
Vice-President Leticia De Lara, MPH 
Director Arthur Shorr –  
Telephonic 

Conrado E. Bárzaga, MD, Chief Executive Officer 
Chris Christensen, Chief Financial Officer 
Stephen Huyck, Accounting Manager 
Andrea S. Hayles, Clerk to the Board  

 

I.  Call to Order 
      

Chairman Matthews called the 
meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. 

 

II.  Approval of Agenda Chairman Matthews asked for a 
motion to approve the agenda. 
 
Chairman Matthews moved to 
table Item VIII.8.  

Moved and seconded by Chairman 
Matthews and Vice-President De 
Lara to approve the agenda and 
tabling Item VIII.8.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

III.  Public Comment There was no public comment.  

IV.  Approval of Minutes 
1. F&A Minutes – 

Meeting July 9, 2019 

Chairman Matthews motioned 
to approve the July 9, 2019 
minutes.  

Moved and seconded by Chairman 
Matthews and Director Shorr to 
approve the minutes. 
Motion passed unanimously. 

V.  CEO Report  Conrado E.  Bárzaga, MD, Chief 
Executive Officer, described his 
internal assessment of the 
District and the immediate 
staffing needs for 
reorganization that include 
costs savings, and outlining the 
agenda items and follow-up 
discussions on the Community 
Needs Assessment RFP.  

 

VI. Chief Financial Officer’s 
Report 

     1.  LPMP Leasing Update 

Chris Christensen, CFO, 
explained the most recent lease 
renewals and three (3) 
vacancies with the goal of 100% 
occupancy.  

 

VII.  Financial Reports  
1.  District and LPMP Financial 

Statements 

Chris Christensen, CFO, 
described the financials such as 
the profit and loss net revenue 

Moved and seconded by Vice-
President De Lara and Director Shorr 
to approve the July and August 2019 

Page 3 of 146



 
  

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE, LEGAL, AND COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
September 10, 2019 

 

Page 2 of 6 
Finance, Administration Real Estate, Legal, and Hospital Governance & Oversight Committee Minutes 

September 10, 2019 

2.  Accounts Receivable Aging 
Summary 

3.  District – Deposits 
4.  District – Property Tax 

Receipts 
5.  LPMP Deposits 
6.  District – Check Register 
7.  Credit Card – Detail of 

Expenditures 
8.  LPMP – Check Register 
9.  Retirement Protection Plan    

Update 
10. Grant Payment Schedule 

and replying to inquiries on the 
A/R Aging summary.  
 
Director De Lara inquired if the 
District has assessed a company 
vehicle due to staff’s numerous 
trips to meetings throughout 
the valley and Los Angeles 
County.  Staff explained that 
the District has a mileage 
reimbursement policy.  
 
Mr. Christensen explained that 
the participant funds for  
Retirement Protection Plan 
(RPP) participants whose 
annual letters have been 
returned undeliverable will be 
sent to the State.  Accounting 
will contact Desert Regional 
Medical Center’s human 
resources department to verify 
the addresses before moving 
forward. 

District Financial Reports - Items 1-
10 and to forward to the Board for 
approval.  
Motion passed unanimously.  

VIII.  Other Matters 
1. LPMP Lease Extension 

– Suite 1W 201 – Peter 
Jamieson, MD 
 
 
 
 
 

2. LPMP Lease – Suites 
1W 105-106 – Cohen, 
Musch, & Thomas 
Medical Group 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Chris Christensen, CFO, 
explained the 5-year lease 
renewal with a base rent of 
$1.86/sq. ft., and $15/sq. ft. 
tenant improvement 
allowance.  The lease will 
commence on October 1. 
 
Chris Christensen, CFO, 
explained that Cohen, Musch, 
& Thomas is moving to a new 
suite with tenant improvement 
work scheduled for completion 
in December, and a proposed 
Oct. 1 lease date.  The term of 
the lease is 5-years at $1.52/sq. 
ft.  
 

 
Moved and seconded by Vice-
President De Lara and Director Shorr 
to approve the LPMP Lease 
Extension – Suite 1W 201 – Peter 
Jamieson, MD and forward to the 
Board for approval. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Moved and seconded by Director 
Shorr and Vice-President De Lara to 
approve the LPMP Lease – Suites 1W 
105-106 – Cohen, Musch, & Thomas 
Medical Group and forward to the 
Board for approval. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
 

Page 4 of 146



 
  

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE, LEGAL, AND COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
September 10, 2019 

 

Page 3 of 6 
Finance, Administration Real Estate, Legal, and Hospital Governance & Oversight Committee Minutes 

September 10, 2019 

3. LPMP Lease Extension 
– Suite 1W 204 – 
Dennis Spurgin, DC 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Revised Organizational 
Chart, Proposed 
Salaries, and Job 
Descriptions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Human Resources 
Consultant Service 
Agreement  

 
 

Chris Christensen, CFO, 
explained that the lease is a 5-
year renewal with a start date 
of Oct. 1, and tenant 
improvements at $1.52/sq. ft. 
 
 
 
 
Conrado E. Bárzaga, MD, Chief 
Executive Officer, explained the 
programmatic side of grant-
making and the administrative 
side with legal and human 
resources – eliminating the 
Chief Financial Officer position 
and replacing with a Chief 
Administrative Officer.  A 
human resources consultant is 
necessary to stay apprised on 
the legal aspects and updating 
the District’s employee manual. 
Supporting the two functions 
would require an 
administrative assistant – a 
total savings of $155k.  
 
At the request of Vice-
President De Lara, the 
committee directed staff to 
include legal on the 
organizational chart, reporting 
directly to the Board.  Vice-
President De Lara 
recommended a public policy 
intern or an intern in a similar 
position. 
 
Conrado E. Bárzaga, MD, Chief 
Executive Officer, described his 
request for a human resources 
consultant for the purposes of 
an immediate need to review 

Moved and seconded by Vice-
President De Lara and Director Shorr 
to approve the LPMP Lease 
Extension – Suite 1W 204 – Dennis 
Spurgin, DC, and forward to the 
Board for approval. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
Moved and seconded by Director 
Shorr and Vice-President De Lara to 
approve the Revised Organizational 
Chart, Proposed Salaries, and Job 
Descriptions and forward to the 
Board for approval. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moved and seconded by Director 
Shorr and Vice-President De Lara to 
approve the Human Resources 
Consultant Service Agreement  

Page 5 of 146



 
  

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE, LEGAL, AND COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
September 10, 2019 

 

Page 4 of 6 
Finance, Administration Real Estate, Legal, and Hospital Governance & Oversight Committee Minutes 

September 10, 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6. First Amendment to 
CEO Employment 
Agreement – Auto 
Allowance 
$500/month  

 
 
 
 
 

7. Community Needs 
Assessment RFP – NTE 
$300,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. Coachella Valley 
Association of 
Governments (CVAG) 
CV Link MOU Review 
and Analysis – 
Contingency and 
Conditions  

 
 
 

9. Political Consultants 
for Potential Hospital 
Lease/Transaction  

 
 

the employee handbook, 
training compliance, and labor 
laws that require review of the 
District’s human resources 
processes.  
 
Chris Christensen, CFO, 
described the amendment to 
the CEO employment 
agreement based on extensive 
travel and the need for a 
$500/month auto allowance.  
 
 
 
 
Conrado E. Bárzaga, MD, Chief 
Executive Officer, explained 
that the Strategic Planning 
Committee will meet to discuss 
the views and opinions 
expressed in the Program 
Committee since the 
assessment is related to the 
strategic plan. 
 
 
The item was pulled from the 
agenda and tabled for the 
October meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Conrado E. Bárzaga, MD, Chief 
Executive Officer, described the 
ad hoc committee Tenet lease 
meeting with Kaufman Hall, the 
committee’s understanding and 
the potential intentions of the 

and forward to the Board for 
approval. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
 
Moved and seconded by Vice-
President De Lara and Chairman 
Matthews to approve the First 
Amendment to CEO Employment 
Agreement – Auto Allowance and 
forward to the Board for approval. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6 of 146



 
  

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE, LEGAL, AND COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
September 10, 2019 

 

Page 5 of 6 
Finance, Administration Real Estate, Legal, and Hospital Governance & Oversight Committee Minutes 

September 10, 2019 

voters with a request for a 
political consultant to provide 
services concerning the political 
implications, which would 
include polling, and 
determining a March 2020 or 
November 2020 ballot 
measure. In the event of the 
unknown, the District should be 
prepared including with talking 
points to present the sensitive 
information.   
 
Linda Evans, Chief Strategy 
Officer, Desert Regional 
Medical Center, explained that 
a proposal from the local firms 
with surveys and analysis to 
determine the strategic 
outreach throughout the 
District to pass the vote is 
underway.  
 
Chairman Matthews 
emphasized the upcoming ad 
hoc committee meeting with 
Tenet, he is uncomfortable with 
the timing, another month is 
necessary, and he will not be 
supporting the political 
consultant at this time.  
 
Since the other two committee 
members are hesitant to move 
forward, Vice-President De Lara 
requested more details if the 
matter will be moved to 30-
days.  
 
There was no motion to 
approve the political consultant 
agreement, and the committee 
will await an update after the 

Page 7 of 146



 
  

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE, LEGAL, AND COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
September 10, 2019 

 

Page 6 of 6 
Finance, Administration Real Estate, Legal, and Hospital Governance & Oversight Committee Minutes 

September 10, 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: _____________________________________________________________ 
 Mark Matthews, Chairman/Treasurer Finance & Administration Committee 
 Desert Healthcare District Board of Directors 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Andrea S. Hayles, Clerk of the Board 

upcoming ad hoc committee 
meeting. 

IV. Adjournment Chairman Matthews adjourned 
the meeting at 4:06 p.m. 

Audio recording available on the 
website at  
http://dhcd.org/Agendas-and-
Documents 

Page 8 of 146

http://dhcd.org/Agendas-and-Documents
http://dhcd.org/Agendas-and-Documents


Page 9 of 146



Page 10 of 146



Page 11 of 146



Page 12 of 146



Page 13 of 146



Page 14 of 146



Page 15 of 146



Page 16 of 146



Page 17 of 146



Page 18 of 146



Page 19 of 146



Page 20 of 146



Page 21 of 146



Page 22 of 146



Page 23 of 146



Page 24 of 146



Page 25 of 146



Page 26 of 146



Page 27 of 146



Page 28 of 146



Page 29 of 146



Page 30 of 146



Page 31 of 146



Page 32 of 146



DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

OUTSTANDING GRANTS AND GRANT PAYMENT SCHEDULE

 As of 9/30/19

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Approved Current Yr 6/30/2019 Total Paid Open

Grant ID Nos. Name Grants - Prior Yrs 2019-2020 Bal Fwd/New July-June BALANCE

2014-MOU-BOD-11/21/13 Memo of Understanding CVAG CV Link Support 10,000,000$            10,000,000$   -$                       10,000,000$             

2015-876-BOD-6-23-15 Arrowhead Neuroscience Fndtn-NeuroInterventional & NeuroCritical Care Fellowship 2 Yr 373,540$                 37,354$          -$                       37,354$                    

2016-927-BOD-12-20-16 SafeHouse of the Desert - "What's Up" Crisis Texting Application - 3 Yr 679,357$                 169,839$        101,904$                67,935$                    

2017-938-BOD-07-25-17 Mizell Senior Center  - A Matter of Balance Phase 2 - 2 Yr 400,300$                 40,030$          -$                       40,030$                    

2018-960-BOD-02-27-18 Desert Cancer Foundation - Patient Assistance and Suzanne Jackson Breast Cancer 200,000$                 20,000$          -$                       20,000$                    

2018-967-BOD-05-22-18 The City of DHS-Public Safety Emergency Response Program - Purchase AEDs 30,000$                   3,000$            710$                      2,290$                      

Unexpended funds of Grant #967 ($2,290.34 10% Retention) -$                       (2,290)$                     

2018-974-BOD-09-25-18 HARC - 2019 Coachella Valley Community Health Survey - 2 Yr 399,979$                 219,989$        -$                       219,989$                  

2018-980-BOD-10-23-18 Joslyn Wellness Senior Behavioral Health Services Program - 1 Yr 112,050$                 11,205$          -$                       11,205$                    

2018-981-BOD-10-23-18 Desert Arc Healthcare Program - 1 Yr 164,738$                 16,474$          -$                       16,474$                    

2018-979-BOD-11-27-18 FIND Food Bank - Healthy Food First/Pathways Out of Hunger - 1 Yr 396,345$                 217,989$        89,178$                 128,811$                  

2019-985-BOD-03-26-19 Coachella Valley Volunteers in Medicine - Primary Healhcare & Support Services - 1 Yr 121,500$                 66,825$          -$                       66,825$                    

2019-986-BOD-05-28-19 Ronald McDonald House Charities - Temporary Housing & Family Support Services - 1 Yr 200,000$                 200,000$        90,000$                 110,000$                  

2019-997-BOD-05-28-19 Martha's Village & Kitchen - Homeless Housing With Wrap Around Services - 1 Yr 200,896$                 110,493$        -$                       110,493$                  

2019-989-BOD-05-28-19 Pegasus Riding Academy - Cover the Hard Costs of Pegasus Clients - 1 Yr 109,534$                 60,244$          -$                       60,244$                    

2019-994-BOD-05-28-19 One Future Coachella Valley - Mental Health College & Career Pathway Development - 2 Yr 700,000$                 621,250$        -$                       621,250$                  

2019-995-BOD-05-28-19 One Future Coachella Valley - HCC Summer Intern at DHCD/F & FIND Food Bank 14,628$                   1,463$            -$                       1,463$                      

2019-1000-BOD-05-28-19 Voices for Children - Court Appointed Special Advocate Program - 1 Yr 24,000$                   13,200$          -$                       13,200$                    

2019-1006-BOD-06-25-19 Desert Healthcare Foundation - Homelessness Initiative Collective Fund 1,000,000$              1,000,000$     1,000,000$             -$                             

2019-1017-BOD-09-24-19 Jewish Family Services - Case Management Services for Homeless Prevention - 1 Yr 90,000$          90,000$          -$                       90,000$                    

2019-1025-BOD-09-24-19 Desert Healthcare Foundation - Ready Set Swim - 1 Yr 200,000$        200,000$        -$                       200,000$                  

-$                    -$                       -$                             

TOTAL GRANTS 15,126,867$            290,000$        13,099,355$   1,281,792$             11,815,273$             

Amts available/remaining for Grant/Programs - FY 2019-20:

Amount budgeted 2019-2020 3,500,000$     G/L Balance: 9/30/2019

Amount granted through June 30, 2020: (290,000)$       2131 6,415,273$               

Mini Grants: 1009; 1015; 1019; 1016 (17,508)$         2281 5,400,000$               

Net adj - Grants not used: 967 2,290$            Total 11,815,273$             

Balance available for Grants/Programs 3,194,782$     Difference - Rdg 0$                             

10/3/20199:33 AM 1 of 1 FYE BOD 06-30-20 Recon to G-L 09-30-19 Grant PaymentsPage 33 of 146



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT,  
DESERT HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION AND 

DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
AND 

AUDITOR’S COMMUNICATION LETTER 
 

JUNE 30, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34 of 146



 

 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT, 
 DESERT HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION AND  

DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

JUNE 30, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
Management/Transmittal Letter ............................................................................................................... 1 
 
Required Communication in Accordance with  
   Statement on Auditing Standards No. 114 ............................................................................................. 2 
 
Current Year Recommendation ................................................................................................................ 5 
  
Status of Prior Year Recommendation ..................................................................................................... 6 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards .............................................................................................................. 7 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35 of 146



 

1 
OFFICES: BEVERLY HILLS ∙ CULVER CITY ∙ SANTA MARIA 

 
MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF C.P.A.’S ∙ CALIFORNIA SOCIETY OF MUNICIPAL FINANCE OFFICERS ∙ CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL BUSINESS OFFICIALS 

                                 
   
PARTNERS COMMERCIAL ACCOUNTING & TAX SERVICES GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT SERVICES 
RONALD A LEVY, CPA 433 N. CAMDEN DR. SUITE 730 5800 E. HANNUM, SUITE E 
CRAIG A HARTZHEIM, CPA BEVERLY HILLS, CA 90210 CULVER CITY, CA  90230 
HADLEY Y HUI, CPA TEL:  310.273.2745 TEL:  310.670.2745  
ALEXANDER C HOM, CPA FAX: 310.670.1689 FAX:  310.670.1689  
ADAM V GUISE, CPA www.mlhcpas.com www.mlhcpas.com 
TRAVIS J HOLE, CPA   

 
To the Honorable Board of Directors, of the Desert Healthcare District,  

Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) 
Palm Springs, California 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District, Desert 
Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities), as of and for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we 
considered the entities’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities’ 
internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities’ internal 
control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all such deficiencies have been identified.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
During our audit, we noted no matters involving internal controls and their operations that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards, except for a potential of inadequate segregation of duties due 
to the small staff of the entities.  This appears to be mitigated by the strong oversight of the Board of 
Directors in the operations of the entities. 
 
We have included in this letter a summary of communications with the members of the Board of Directors as 
required by professional auditing standards. We would like to thank the entities’ management and staff for the 
courtesy and cooperation extended to us during the course of our engagement.  
 
The accompanying communications and recommendations are intended solely for the information and use of 
management, the members of the Board of Directors, and others within the entities, and is not intended to be, 
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 
Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2019 

Page 36 of 146



 

2 
OFFICES: BEVERLY HILLS ∙ CULVER CITY ∙ SANTA MARIA 

 
MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF C.P.A.’S ∙ CALIFORNIA SOCIETY OF MUNICIPAL FINANCE OFFICERS ∙ CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL BUSINESS OFFICIALS 

 
   

PARTNERS COMMERCIAL ACCOUNTING & TAX SERVICES GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT SERVICES 
RONALD A LEVY, CPA 433 N. CAMDEN DR., SUITE 730 5800 E. HANNUM, SUITE E 
CRAIG A HARTZHEIM, CPA BEVERLY HILLS, CA 90210 CULVER CITY, CA  90230 
HADLEY Y HUI, CPA TEL:  310.670.2745 TEL:  310.670.2745  
ALEXANDER C HOM, CPA FAX: 310.670.1689 FAX:  310.670.1689  
ADAM V GUISE, CPA www.mlhcpas.com www.mlhcpas.com 
TRAVIS J HOLE, CPA   
      
 

To the Honorable Board of Directors, of the Desert Healthcare District,  
Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) 

Palm Springs, California 
 

We have audited the financial statements of the financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District, Desert 
Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) of the entities for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2019, and have issued our report thereon dated October 1, 2019. Professional standards require that we 
provide you with the information about our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain information related to the 
planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information in our letter dated May 21, 
2019. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our 
audit. 
 

Significant Audit Findings 
 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the entities are described in Note 1 of the notes to the basic financial statements.  
 
We noted no transactions entered into by the entities during the fiscal year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.  
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements 
and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  
 
The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were the estimated historical cost and useful lives 
of certain capital assets, the net fair market value of the charitable remainder trusts, the funding progress of the 
District’s RPP plan and OPEB plan, and the estimate of an allowance for uncollectable receivables. 
Management’s estimates of the estimated historical cost and useful lives of certain capital assets are based on 
historical data and industry guidelines, while the funding progress of the RPP plan and OPEB plan, and are 
based on consultants’ estimates. The amount of estimated allowance for uncollectable receivables is based on 
historical data. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined 
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 
 
 The estimates for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan are in the footnotes to the financial statements. 

The estimates for the OPEB Plan are in the footnotes to the financial statements.   
 
 
 
 

Page 37 of 146



 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.  The financial statement disclosures are 
neutral, consistent, and clear.   
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 

We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 
 
 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.  Management 
has corrected all such misstatements, if any.  In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit 
procedures and corrected by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion 
unit’s financial statements taken as a whole. 
 

Disagreements with Management 
 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial 
accounting reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to 
the financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose 
during the course of our audit. 
 

Management Representations 
 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation 
letter dated October 1, 2019. 
 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves application of 
an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion 
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check  
with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the entities’ auditors.  However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our 
retention. 
 

Other Matters 
 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate 
and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary 
information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves.  
  

Page 38 of 146



 

4 
 

 
Restriction on Use 
 

This information is intended solely for the use of the members of the Board of Directors and management of the 
entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 

Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2019 

Page 39 of 146



 

5 
 

CURRENT YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Other Matters 
 

 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40 of 146



 

6 
 

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41 of 146



 

7 
OFFICES: BEVERLY HILLS ∙ CULVER CITY ∙ SANTA MARIA 

 
MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF C.P.A.’S ∙ CALIFORNIA SOCIETY OF MUNICIPAL FINANCE OFFICERS ∙ CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL BUSINESS OFFICIALS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PARTNERS COMMERCIAL ACCOUNTING & TAX SERVICES GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT SERVICES 
RONALD A LEVY, CPA 433 N. CAMDEN DR., SUITE 730 5800 E. HANNUM, SUITE E 
CRAIG A HARTZHEIM, CPA BEVERLY HILLS, CA 90210 CULVER CITY, CA  90230 
HADLEY Y HUI, CPA TEL:  310.670.2745 TEL:  310.670.2745  
ALEXANDER C HOM, CPA FAX: 310.670.1689 FAX:  310.670.1689  
ADAM V GUISE, CPA www.mlhcpas.com www.mlhcpas.com 
TRAVIS J HOLE, CPA   
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Honorable Board of Directors, of the Desert Healthcare District,  

Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) 
Palm Springs, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business activities, the 
fiduciary fund financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District, and the financial statements of the  
Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities), as of and for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
entities’ basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 1, 2019. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the entities’ internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities’ internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entities’ 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that 
have not been identified. 
 
 

Page 42 of 146



 

8 
 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the entities financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
MOSS, LEVY & HARTZHEIM, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43 of 146



Page 44 of 146



Page 45 of 146



Page 46 of 146



Page 47 of 146



Page 48 of 146



Page 49 of 146



Page 50 of 146



Page 51 of 146



Page 52 of 146



Page 53 of 146



Page 54 of 146



Page 55 of 146



Page 56 of 146



Page 57 of 146



Page 58 of 146



Page 59 of 146



Page 60 of 146



Page 61 of 146



Page 62 of 146



Page 63 of 146



Page 64 of 146



Page 65 of 146



Page 66 of 146



Page 67 of 146



Page 68 of 146



Page 69 of 146



Page 70 of 146



Page 71 of 146



Page 72 of 146



Page 73 of 146



Page 74 of 146



Page 75 of 146



Page 76 of 146



Page 77 of 146



Page 78 of 146



Page 79 of 146



Page 80 of 146



Page 81 of 146



Page 82 of 146



Page 83 of 146



Page 84 of 146



Page 85 of 146



Page 86 of 146



Page 87 of 146



Page 88 of 146



Page 89 of 146



Page 90 of 146



Page 91 of 146



Page 92 of 146



Page 93 of 146



Page 94 of 146



Page 95 of 146



Page 96 of 146



Page 97 of 146



Page 98 of 146



Page 99 of 146



Page 100 of 146



Page 101 of 146



Page 102 of 146



Page 103 of 146



 

 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE 

D I S T R I C T & F O U N D A T I O N  

 

 
 
Date:             October 8, 2019 

 
To:             Finance & Administration Committee 

 
Subject:           Auditor Firm– Request for Proposal (RFP) 
 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: Consideration to issue a Request for Proposal for new audit firm 
and/or audit team. 

 
 

Background: 

• Moss, Levy & Hartzheim LLP (MLH) have been the auditors for the 

District/Foundation since FYE 6/30/14 

• District staff is pleased with the work MLH has accomplished over the past six 

years 

• It is the practice of the District to consider and evaluate a 5-year rotation of auditor 

firms and/or audit team.  

• Staff has compiled a list of nine firms based on location and expertise to contact 

with the RFP 

• Moss, Levy & Hartzheim LLP is included on the list of recipients for consideration. 

If selected, to maintain independence, MLH would provide a new audit team under 

a separate Partner, independent of the current audit team. 

• Staff recommends approval of the draft RFP 

• The RFP and List of Audit Firms are included in the packet for your review. 
 

 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
N/A 

Page 104 of 146



 

 

 
 

SAMPLE OF RFP LETTER  

 

September 9, 2019  

Managing partner 

Firm Name 

Dear:  

The Desert Healthcare District (“DHCD”), a California Special Healthcare District is accepting proposals 

from CPA firms to provide June 30, 2020 year-end audit services for three separate entities as follows: 

1) DHCD, a California Special Healthcare District 

2) Desert Healthcare Foundation (DHCF), a 501(c)(3) Foundation 

3) Desert Hospital Retirement Protection Plan (RPP), a frozen retirement plan excluded from coverage 

under section 4021(b)(2) of ERISA.  

Tax return services for 990 filing is needed for DHCF only. State Controller Reports are required for Both 

DHCD and the RPP.  

We invite your firm to submit a proposal to us by December 20, 2019 for consideration. Please submit 

to: 

By mail: 
Chris Christensen, CPA 
Desert Healthcare District 
1140 N. Indian Canyon Drive 
Palm Springs, California 92262 
 
By email:   

cchristensen@dhcd.org 

Attached are the June 30, 2019 audit reports for each of the entities and the June 30, 2019 990 for DHCF. 

The audit reports provide a brief description of each of the three entities. Also, please go to DHCD’s 

website at www.dhcd.org to learn more about the organization. 

Page 105 of 146



 

 

 

Your proposal is expected to cover the following services:  

1. Annual audit fee for each entity to be completed in compliance with the previously mentioned filing 

requirements and meetings with audit committee and/or board of directors, as necessary  

2. Tax filing for DHF and State Controller reports for DHCD and RPP.  

Key Personnel  

Following are key contacts for information you may seek in preparing your proposal:  

 Mr. Chris Christensen CFO   (760) 323-6365 Email: cchristensen@dhcd.org 

 Mr. Conrado Bárzaga CEO   (760) 323-6273 Email: cbarzaga@dhcd.org 

Relationship with Prior CPA   

The audit and tax return services have been provided by Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP, CPAs for the past 

six (6) years. We have had an excellent relationship with Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, but the DHCD and 

DHCF board of directors resolved to evaluate and consider a change in audit firms and/or audit team in 

order to get a fresh perspective on the financial position of DHCD and DHF. In preparing your proposal, be 

advised that management will give you permission to contact Moss, Levy & Hartzheim.  

Your Response to This Request for Proposal  

In responding to this request, we request the following information:  

 1. Detail your firm’s experience in providing auditing and tax services to organizations in the 

government and not-for-profit industry, as well as associations of a comparable size to DHCD and 

DHCF. Please provide a list of clients of your firm including contacts for reference purposes.  

 2. Discuss commitments you will make to staff continuity, including your staff turnover experience in 

the last three years.  

 3. Identify the partner, manager, and in-charge accountant who will be assigned to our job if you are 

successful in your bid, and provide biographies. Indicate any complaints against them that have been 

leveled by the state board of accountancy or other regulatory authority, if any. Indicate any corrective 

actions that have been taken by the firm with respect to these personnel.  

 4. Describe how your firm will approach the audit of the organization. Also discuss the firm’s use of 

technology in the audit and the communication process used by the firm to discuss issues with the 

management and audit committees of the board. Please provide the firms’ latest peer review report. 

 5. Set forth your fee proposal for each entity for the June 30, 2020 audits, with whatever guarantees can 

be given regarding increases in future years. Your fee proposal should also delineate hours by level of 

staff.  

 6. Describe how you will bill for questions on technical matters that may arise throughout the year.  

  7. Furnish current standard and discounted billing rates for classes of professional personnel.  

  8. Provide the names and contact information for other similarly sized clients of the partner and manager 

that will be assigned to our organization for reference purposes.  

Page 106 of 146



 

 

  9. Describe why our selection of your firm as our external accountants is the best decision we could 

make.  

10.  The deadline for completion of the Audit Reports is September 30, 2020. The audit firm is expected 

present the audit reports at the October meetings of the District’s Finance & Administration 

Committee and Board of Directors.  

Evaluation of Proposals  

DHCD will evaluate proposals on a qualitative basis. This includes our review of the firm’s peer review 

report and related materials, interviews with senior engagement personnel to be assigned to our 

organization, results of discussions with other clients, and the firm’s completeness and timeliness in its 

response to us.  

We would also appreciate a response if you decline to submit a proposal. 

Sincerely, 

 

Chris Christensen, CPA 

Chief Administration Officer 

Attachments: 

June 30, 2019 audited financial statements and IRS Form 990 for FYE June 30, 2019. 

 

 

Page 107 of 146



 
 

CPA Firms – Request for Proposal - 2019 
 
 

1. Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP – Managing Partner – Hadley Y. Hui, CPA 
Website:  www.mlhcpas.com 
Address:  5800 Hannum Avenue, Suite E, Culver City, CA 90230 – Current Auditors 
Telephone:  310-670-2745, ext. 106   

2. Lund & Guttry LLP – Managing Partner – Gary Dack, CPA 
Website: www.lundandguttry.com 
Address: 36917 Cook Street, Suite 102, Palm Desert, CA 92211 
Telephone: 760-568-2242 

3. White Nelson Diehl Evans LLP  – Managing Partner -  David P. Doran, CPA –  
Website:  www.wndecpa.com 
Address:  2875 Michelle Drive, Suite 300, Irvine, CA 92606 – Grossmont Auditors 
Telephone:  714-978-1300 

4. Eadie and Payne, LLP – Senior Partner – Deborah Crowley, CPA 
Website:  www.eadiepaynellp.com 
Address:  3880 Lemon Street, Suite 300, Riverside, CA 92501 
Telephone:  951-241-7800 

5. Maryanov Madsen Gordon & Campbell – Managing Partner – Steven T. Erickson, CPA 
Website:  www.mmgccpa.com 
Address:  801 E. Tahquitz Canyon Way, Suite 200, Palm Springs, CA 92262 
Telephone:  760-320-6642 

6. Osborne Rincon, CPAs – Managing Partner (President) – Lee M. Osborne, CPA 
Website:  www.osbornerincon.com 
Address:  79-245 Corporate Centre Drive, Suite 101, La Quinta, CA 92253 
Telephone:  760-777-9805 

7. Vasquez & Company, LLP – Managing Partner – Gilbert R. Vasquez, CPA 
Website:  www.vasquezcpas.com 
Address:  655 N. Central Avenue, Suite 1550, Glendale, CA 91203 
Telephone:  213-873-1700 

8. Fechter & Company, CPAs – Managing Partner – Craig R. Fechter, CPA 
Website: www.fechtercpa.com  
Address: 1870 Avondale Avenue, Suite 4, Sacramento, CA 95825 
Telephone: 916-333-5360   Fax: 916-244-0116 

9. Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP – Managing Partner – Erika Aaron 
Website: www.lslcpas.com   
Address: 203 N. Brea Blvd., Suite 203, Brea, CA 92821 
Telephone: 800-836-8027        

Page 108 of 146

http://www.mlhcpas.com/
http://www.lundandguttry.com/
http://www.wndecpa.com/
http://www.eadiepaynellp.com/
http://www.mmgccpa.com/
http://www.osbornerincon.com/
http://www.vasquezcpas.com/
http://www.fechtercpa.com/
http://www.lslcpas.com/


 

 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE 

D I S T R I C T & F O U N D A T I O N  

 

 
 
Date:             October 8, 2019 

 
To:             Finance & Administration Committee 

 
Subject:           Lease Agreement – Laboratory Corporation of America 3E 104-105 
 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: Consideration to approve the draft lease agreement for Laboratory 
Corporation of America (LabCorp) at the Las Palmas Medical Plaza. 

 
 

Background: 

• LabCorp has been a long-standing tenant of the Las Palmas Medical Plaza 

• LabCorp’s current lease is on a month-to-month basis 

• LabCorp is requesting a lease of three years, with a base rent of $1.55/square foot 

and a Tenant Improvement Allowance of $20/square foot 

• Staff recommends approval of the draft lease agreement 

• Draft lease agreement is attached for review 
 

 
Fiscal Impact: 
Estimated revenue from Rent and CAMs for life of the lease - $174,959 

 
Estimated cost of Tenant Improvement Allowance ($20.00/sf) - $44,000 

Page 109 of 146



 

1 

 

  

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
                      PAGE 
   
 Article 1 LEASE OF PREMISES…………………………………………………………………………………………. …………….. 2 
 
 Article 2 DEFINITIONS………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…………….. 2 
 
 Article 3 EXHIBITS AND ADDENDA……………………………………………………………………………….…………….. 3 
 
 Article 4 DELIVERY AND POSSESSION………………………………………………………………………………………..  3 
 
 Article 5 RENT………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 3 
 
 Article 6 INTEREST AND LATE CHARGES…………………………………………………………………..…………….. 5 
 
 Article 7 SECURITY DEPOSIT………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 5 
 
 Article 8 TENANT'S USE OF THE PREMISES……………………………………………………………… …………….. 6 
 
 Article 9 SERVICES AND UTILITIES……………………………………………………………………………………………… 6 
 
 Article 10 CONDITION OF THE PREMISES…………………………………………………………………………………..  7 
 
 Article 11 CONSTRUCTION, REPAIRS, AND MAINTENANCE………………………………………………  7 
 
 Article 12 ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS……………………………………………………….………………………… 8 
 
 Article 13 LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS;TENANT’S PROPERTY……………………………………….. 8 
 
 Article 14 RULES AND REGULATIONS…………………………………………………………………………………………… 9 
 
 Article 15 CERTAIN RIGHTS RESERVED BY LANDLORD………………………………………………………..... 9 
 
 Article 16 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING……………………………………………………………………………….. 9 
 
 Article 17 HOLDING OVER…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 10 
 
 Article 18 SURRENDER OF PREMISES…………………………………………………………………………………………… 10 
 
 Article 19 DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE……………………………………………………………………………………….. 10 
 
 Article 20 EMINENT DOMAIN…………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 11 
 
 Article 21 INDEMNIFICATION……………………………………………………………………………….…………………………. 11 
 
 Article 22 TENANT’S INSURANCE………………………………………………………………………..………………………... 12 
 
 Article 23 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION…………………………………………….………………………………………….. 12 
 
 Article 24 SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT…………………………………………………….…………….. 12 
 
 Article 25 TENANT ESTOPPAL CERTIFICATES………………………………………………………………………….. 13 
 
 Article 26 TRANSFER OF LANDLORD’S INTEREST………………………………………………………………………. 13 
 
 Article 27 DEFAULT………………………………………………………………………………….…………………………………………… 13 
 
 Article 28 BROKERAGE FEES…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 14 
 
 Article 29 NOTICES………………………………………………………………………………………….……… ..………………………….  14 
 
 Article 30 GOVERNMENT ENERGY OR UTILITY CONTROLS……………………………………….…….. 15 
 
 Article 31 RELOCATION OF PREMISES…………………………………………………………………………………………. 15 
 
 Article 32 QUIET ENJOYMENT…………………………………………………………………………..…………………………….. 15 
 
 Article 33 OBSERVANCE OF LAW……………………………………………………………………….………………………….. 15 
 
 Article 34 FORCE MAJEURE………………………………………………………………………………………………………………  15 
 
 Article 35 CURING TENANT’S DEFAULTS………………………………………………………………..…………………. 15 
 
 Article 36 SIGN CONTROL……………………………………………………………………………..………………………………….. 16 

 
 Article 37 MISCELLANEOUS…………………………………………………………………………..…………………………………. 16 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 110 of 146



 

2 

 

  

 

 
OFFICE BUILDING LEASE 

 
This Lease between Desert Healthcare District, doing business as Las Palmas Medical Plaza hereinafter referred to 

as “Landlord”, and Laboratory Corporation of America, referred to as “Tenant”, and is dated November 1, 2019. 
 
1. LEASE OF PREMISES. 
 
In consideration of the Rent (as defined at Section 5.4) and the provisions of this Lease, Landlord leases to Tenant and 
Tenant leases from Landlord the Premises described in Section 2L.  The Premises are located within the Building and 
Project described in Section 2m. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right (unless otherwise provided herein) in common 
with Landlord, other tenants, subtenants, and invitees, to use of the Common Areas (as defined at Section 2e). 
 
2. DEFINITIONS.   
 
As used in this Lease, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

a. Base Rent (Initial):  $ _Forty Thousand, Nine-Hundred Twenty Dollars 00/100 ($40,920.00) per year. 
 
b. Base Year:  The calendar year of _November 1 to October 31____________________________________________________. 

 
c. Broker(s): 

 

  Landlord’s: __N/A________________________________________________________________________________________________. 
   
  Tenant’s: ___N/A___________________________________________________________________________________________________. 
 

In the event that ___N/A_____________________________. represents both Landlord and Tenant, Landlord and Tenant 
hereby confirm that they were timely advised of the dual representation and that they consent to the same, and 
that they do not expect said broker to disclose to either of them the confidential information of the other party. 

 
d. Commencement Date:  __November 1st. 2019____________________________________________________________________________. 
 
e. Common Areas:  The building lobbies, common corridors and hallways, restrooms, parking areas, stairways, 

elevators and other generally understood public or common areas. Landlord shall have the right to regulate or 
restrict the use of the Common Areas. 

 
f. Expiration Date: _October 31st, 2022______________________________________________________________, unless otherwise 

sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Lease. 
 

g. Landlord's Mailing Address: __1140 N. Indian Canyon Dr., Palm Springs, CA 92262      ___________________________. 
 

 Tenant's Mailing Address: __555 E. Tachevah Dr. 3E-104, Palm Springs, CA 92262    ____________________________.  
 

h. Monthly Installments of Base Rent (initial): Three-Thousand Four-Hundred Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($3,410.00)_per 
month. 

 
i. Project Operating Costs (CAMS): Currently Sixty-Two Cents ($.62)_per square foot per month. 

 
j. Tenant Improvement Allowance (TI): Twenty Dollars ($20)_per square foot or Forty-Four Thousand and 00/100 

Dollars ($44,000.00)_. 
 

k. Parking:  Tenant shall be permitted, to park ____11____ cars on a non-exclusive basis in the area(s) designated by 
Landlord for parking (for Staff - generally in the back of the parking area, perimeter streets, and Wellness Park 
parking lot). Tenant shall abide by any and all parking regulations and rules established from time to time by 
Landlord or Landlord's parking operator.  

 
l. Premises:  That portion of the Building containing approximately _2,200_  square feet of Rentable Area, located in 

Building __3E___ and known as Suite  104-105 . 
 

m. Project:  The building of which the Premises are a part (the "Building") and any other buildings or improvements 
on the real property (the "Property") located at 555 E. Tachevah Drive, Palm Springs, California 92262. The 
Project is known as The Las Palmas Medical Plaza . 

 
n. Rentable Area:  As to both the Premises and the Project, the respective measurements of floor area as may from time 

to time be subject to lease by Tenant and all tenants of the Project, respectively, as determined by Landlord and 
applied on a consistent basis throughout the Project. 

 

Page 111 of 146



 

3 

 

  

 

o. Security Deposit (Section 7): $ _Zero and 00/100 Dollars ($00.00) _. 
 

p. State:  the State of California. 
 

q. Tenant’s First Adjustment Date (Section 5):  The first day of the calendar month following the Commencement Date 
plus 12 months. 

 
r. Tenant’s Proportionate Share:  __4.46____%.  Such share is a fraction, the numerator of which is the Rentable Area of 

the Premises and the denominator of which is the Rentable Area of the Project, as determined by Landlord from 
time to time.  The Project consists of six building(s) containing a total Rentable Area of __49,356__  square feet. 

 
s. Tenant’s Use Clause (Article 8): General office use consistent with and use the City may allow under the City of 

Palm Springs zoning, subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval. 
 

t. Term:  The period commencing on the Commencement Date and expiring at midnight on the Expiration Date. 
 
3. EXHIBITS AND ADDENDA. 
 
The exhibits and addenda listed below (unless lined out) are incorporated by reference in this Lease: 

a. Exhibit “A” Rules and Regulations. 
b. Addenda* 

 
 *See Addendum attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof. 
 
4. DELIVERY OF POSSESSION. 
 
If for any reason Landlord does not deliver possession of the Premises to Tenant on the commencement Date, Landlord 
shall not be subject to any liability for such failure, the Expiration Date shall not change and the validity of this Lease 
shall not be impaired, but Rent shall be abated until delivery of possession, “Delivery of possession” shall be deemed to 
occur on the date Landlord completes Landlord’s Work as defined in Addendum.  If Landlord permits Tenant to enter 
into possession of the Premises before the Commencement Date, such possession shall be subject to the provisions of this 
Lease, including, without limitation, the payment of Rent. 
 
5. RENT. 
 
5.1 Payment of Base Rent:  Tenant agrees to pay the base rent for the premises.  Monthly installments of Base Rent shall be 

payable in advance on the first day of each calendar month of the term.  If the term begins (or ends) on other than the 
first (or last) day of a calendar month, the Base Rent for the partial month shall be prorated on a per diem basis.  
Tenant shall pay Landlord the first Monthly Installment of Base Rent when Tenant executes the Lease. 

 
5.2 Adjusted Base Rent:  

a. The Base Rent (and the corresponding monthly installments of Base Rent) set forth at Section 2a shall be 
adjusted annually (the “Adjustment Date”), commencing on Tenant’s First Adjustment Date.  Such adjustment 
shall be the greater of 3% over the preceding year or Consumer Price Index(CPI). 
 

5.3 Project Operating Costs (CAMs): 
a. In order that the Rent payable during the Term reflect any Project Operating Costs, Tenant agrees to pay to 

Landlord as Rent, Tenant’s Proportionate Share of all costs, expenses and obligations attributable to the Project 
and its operation as set forth in 2i, all as provided below. 

  

b. If, during any calendar year during the Term, Project Operating Costs exceed the Project Operating Costs for the 
Base Year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in addition to the Base Rent and all other payments due under this lease, 
an amount equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of such excess Project Operating Costs in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 5.3b. 

 
(1.) The term “Project Operating Costs” shall include all those items described in the following subparagraphs (a) 

and (b). 
 

(a.) All taxes, assessments, water and sewer charges and other similar governmental charges levied on or 
attributable to the Building or Project or their operation, including without limitation, (i) real property 
taxes or assessments levied or assessed against the Building or Project, (ii) assessments or charges levied 
or assessed against the Building or Project by any redevelopment agency, (iii) any tax measured by gross 
rentals received from the leasing of the Premises, Building or Project, excluding any net income, franchise, 
capital stock, estate or inheritance taxes imposed by the State or federal government  or their agencies, 
branches or departments; provided that if at any time during the Term any governmental entity levies, 
assesses or imposes on Landlord any (1) general or special, ad valorem or specific, excise, capital levy or 
other tax, assessment, levy or charge directly on the Rent received under this lease or on the rent received 
under any other leases of space in the Building or Project, or (2) and license fee, excise or franchise tax, 
assessment, levy or charge measured by or based, in whole or in part, upon such rent, or (3) any transfer, 
transactions, or similar tax, assessment, levy or charge based directly or indirectly upon the transaction 

Page 112 of 146



 

4 

 

  

 

represented by this Lease or such other leases, or (4) any occupancy, use, per capita or other tax, 
assessment, levy or charge based directly or indirectly upon the use or occupancy of the Premises or other 
premises within the Building or Project, then any such taxes, assessments, levies and charges shall be 
deemed to be included in the term Project Operation Costs.  If at any time during the Term the assessed 
valuation of, or taxes on, the Project are not based on a completed Project having at least eighty-five 
percent (85%) of the Rentable Area occupied, then the “taxes” component of Project Operating Costs 
shall be adjusted by Landlord to reasonably Approximate the taxes, which would have been payable if 
the Project were completed and at least eighty-five percent (85%) occupied. 

 
(b.) Operating costs incurred by Landlord in maintaining and operating the Building and Project, including 

without limitation the following:  costs of (1) utilities; (2) supplies; (3) insurance (including public 
liability, property damage, earthquake, and fire and extended coverage insurance for the full replacement 
cost of the Building and Project as required by Landlord or its lenders for the Project; (4) services of 
independent contractors; (5) compensation (including employment taxes and fringe benefits) of all 
persons who perform duties connected with the operation, maintenance, repair or overhaul of the 
Building or Project, and equipment, improvements and facilities located within the Project, including 
without limitation engineers, janitors, painters, floor waxers, window washers, security and parking 
personnel and gardeners (but excluding persons performing services not uniformly available to or 
performed for substantially all Building or Project tenant); (6) operation and maintenance of a room for 
delivery and distribution of mail to tenants of the Building or Project as required by the U.S. Postal 
Service (including, without limitation, an amount equal to the fair market rental value of the mail room 
premises); (7) management of the Building or Project, whether managed by Landlord or an independent 
contractor (including, without limitation, an amount equal to the fair market value of any on-site 
manager’s office); (8) rental expenses for (or a reasonable depreciation allowance on) personal property 
used in the maintenance, operation or repair of the Building or Project; (9) costs, expenditures or charges 
(whether capitalized or not) required by any governmental or quasi-governmental authority; (10) 
amortization of capital expenses (including financing costs) (i) required by a governmental entity for 
energy conservation or life safety purposes, or (ii) made by landlord to reduce Project Operating Costs; 
and (11) any other costs or expenses incurred by Landlord under this Lease and not otherwise reimbursed 
by tenants of the Project. If at any time during the Term, less than eighty-five percent (85%) of the 
Rentable Area of the Project is occupied, the “operating costs” component of Project Operating Costs 
shall be adjusted by Landlord to reasonably approximate the operating costs which would have been 
incurred if the Project had been at least eighty-five percent (85%) occupied. 

 
  (2.)  Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Project Operating Costs shall be payable by Tenant to Landlord as follows: 

 
(a.) Beginning with the calendar year following the Base Year and for each calendar year thereafter 

(“comparison Year”), Tenant shall pay Landlord an amount equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the 
Project Operating Costs incurred by Landlord in the Comparison Year which exceeds the total amount of 
Project Operating Costs payable by Landlord for the Base Year.  This excess is referred to as the “Excess 
Expenses.” 

 
(b.) To provide for current payments of Excess Expenses, Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, pay as 

additional rent during each Comparison Year, an amount equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the 
Excess Expenses payable during such Comparison Year, as estimated by Landlord from time to time.  
Such payments shall be made in monthly installments, commencing on the first day of the month 
following the month in which Landlord notifies Tenant of the amount it is to pay hereunder and 
continuing until the first day of the month following the month in which Landlord gives Tenant a new 
notice of estimated Excess Expenses.  It is the intention hereunder to estimate from time to time the 
amount of the Excess Expense for each Comparison Year and Tenant’s Proportionate Share thereof, and 
then to make an adjustment in the following year based on the actual Excess Expenses incurred for that 
Comparison Year. 

 
(c.) On or before April 1 of each Comparison Year after the first Comparison Year (or as soon thereafter as is 

practical), Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement setting forth Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the 
Excess Expenses for the preceding Comparison Year.  If Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the actual 
Excess Expenses for the previous Comparison Year exceeds the total of the estimated monthly payments 
made by Tenant for such year, Tenant shall pay Landlord the amount of the deficiency within ten (10) 
days of the receipt of the statement.  If such total exceeds Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the actual 
Excess Expenses for such Comparison Year, then Landlord shall credit against Tenant’s next ensuing 
monthly installment(s) of additional rent an amount equal to the difference until the credit is exhausted.  
If the credit is due from Landlord on the Expiration Date, Landlord shall pay Tenant the amount of the 
credit.  The obligations of Tenant and Landlord to make payments required under this Section 5.3 shall 
survive the Expiration Date. 

 
(d.) Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Excess Expenses in any Comparison Year having less than 365 days shall 

be appropriately prorated. 
 

(e.) If any dispute arises as to the amount of any additional rent due hereunder, Tenant shall have the right 
after reasonable notice and at reasonable times to inspect Landlord’s accounting records at Landlord’s 

Page 113 of 146



 

5 

 

  

 

accounting office and, if after such inspection Tenant still disputes the amount of additional rent owed, a 
certification as to the proper amount shall be made by Landlord’s certified public accountant, which 
certification shall be final and conclusive.  Tenant agrees to pay the cost of such certification unless it is 
determined that Landlord’s original statement overstated Project Operating Costs by more than five 
percent (5%). 

 
(f.) If this Lease sets forth an Expense Stop at Section 2f, then during the Term, Tenant shall be liable for 

Tenant’s Proportionare Share of any actual Project Operating Costs which exceed the amount of the 
Expense Stop. Tenant shall make current payments of such excess costs during the Term in the same 
manner as is provided for payment of Excess Expenses under the applicable provisions of Section 
5.3(2)(b) and (c) above. 

 
5.4 Definition of Rent: The Rent shall be paid to the Building manager (or other person) and at such place, as Landlord may 
from time to time designate in writing, without any prior demand therefore and without deduction or offset, in lawful 
money of the United States of America.   
 
5.5 Rent Control: If the amount of Rent or any other payment due under this Lease violates the terms of any governmental 
restrictions on such Rent or payment, then the Rent or payment due during the period of such restrictions shall be the 
maximum amount allowable under those restrictions.  Upon termination of the restrictions, Landlord shall, to the extent 
it is legally permitted, recover from Tenant the difference between the amounts received during the period of the 
restrictions and the amounts Landlord would have received had there been no restrictions. 
 
5.6 Taxes Payable by Tenant: In addition to the Rent and any other charges to be paid by Tenant hereunder, Tenant shall 
reimburse Landlord upon demand for any and all taxes payable by Landlord (other than net income taxes) which are not 
otherwise reimbursable under this Lease, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of the parties, 
where such taxes are upon, measured by or reasonably attributable to (a) the cost or value of Tenant’s equipment, 
furniture, fixtures and other personal property located in the Premises, or the cost or value of any leasehold 
improvements made in or to the Premises by or for Tenant, other than Building Standard Work made by Landlord, 
regardless of whether title to such improvements is held by Tenant or Landlord; (b) the gross or net Rent payable under 
this Lease, including, without limitation, any rental or gross receipts tax levied by any taxing authority with respect to 
the receipt of the Rent hereunder; (c) the possession, leasing , operation, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, 
use or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises or any portion thereof; or (d) this transaction or any document to which 
Tenant is a party creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.  If it becomes unlawful for Tenant to 
reimburse Landlord for any costs as required under this Lease, the Base Rent shall be revised to net Landlord the same net 
Rent after imposition of any tax or other charge upon Landlord as would have been payable to Landlord but for the 
reimbursement being unlawful. 
 
5.7 Tenant Improvement Allowance: In recognition for Tenant completing all improvements, including fire sprinklers, to the 
premises as mutually agreed by Landlord and Tenant, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a total Tenant improvement 
allowance not to exceed that set forth in Section 2j upon completion of agreed tenant improvements to include fire 
sprinkler system.  This allowance will be reimbursed to tenant upon satisfactory receipt of paid invoices and inspection 
by Property Management that work has been satisfactorily completed.  Any additional tenant improvements will be at 
the sole expense of the Tenant.  Improvements shall conform to a high quality of design approved by Landlord prior to 
commencement of work, and shall be performed by a licensed General Contractor approved by Landlord in advance.  
Tenant shall submit plans and specifications for any and all improvements to Landlord, and where necessary, the City of 
Palm Springs and other applicable government agencies for their required approval (if any) prior to commencement of 
work.  Tenant and the General Contractor shall indemnify and hold Landlord and it officers, agents and employees 
harmless from any liability resulting from the tenant improvement work and shall be named as an additional insured on 
the insurance policy of both the Tenant and the General Contractor.  All costs shall be subject to prevailing wages and if 
construction costs exceed $25,000, then the tenant improvements shall also be subject to California competitive bid statutes. 
 
6. INTEREST AND LATE CHARGES. 
 
If Tenant fails to pay when due any Rent or other amounts or charges which Tenant is obligated to pay under the terms of 
this Lease, the unpaid amounts shall bear interest at the maximum rate then allowed by law.  Tenant acknowledges that 
the late payment of any Monthly Installment of Base Rent will cause Landlord to lose the use of that money and incur 
costs and expenses not contemplated under this Lease, including without limitation, administrative and collection costs 
and processing and accounting expenses, the exact amount of which is extremely difficult to ascertain.  Therefore, in 
addition to interest, if any such installment is not received by Landlord within five (5) days from the date it is due, 
Tenant shall pay Landlord a late charge equal to ten percent (10%) of such installment.  Landlord and Tenant agree that 
this late charge represents a reasonable estimate of such costs and expenses and is fair compensation to Landlord for the 
loss suffered from such nonpayment by Tenant.  Acceptance of any interest or late charge shall not constitute a waiver of 
Tenant’s default with respect to such nonpayment by Tenant nor prevent Landlord from exercising any other rights or 
remedies available to Landlord under this Lease. 
 
 
7. SECURITY DEPOSIT. 
 
Tenant agrees to deposit with Landlord the Security Deposit set forth at Section 2.0 upon execution of this Lease, as 
security for Tenant’s faithful performance of its obligations under this Lease.  Landlord and Tenant agree that the 

Page 114 of 146



 

6 

 

  

 

Security Deposit may be commingled with funds of Landlord and Landlord shall have no obligation or liability for 
payment of interest on such deposit.  Tenant shall not mortgage, assign, transfer or encumber the Security Deposit 
without the prior written consent of Landlord and any attempt by Tenant to do so shall be void, without force or effect 
and shall not be binding upon Landlord. 
 
If Tenant fails to pay Rent or other amount when due and payable under this Lease, or fails to perform any of the terms 
hereof, Landlord may appropriate and apply or use all or any portion of the Security Deposit for Rent payments or any 
other amount then due and unpaid, for payment of any amount for which Landlord has become obligated as a result of 
Tenant’s default or breech, and for any loss or damage sustained by Landlord as a result of Tenant’s default or breach, and 
Landlord may so apply or use this deposit without prejudice to any other remedy Landlord may have by reason of 
Tenant’s default or breach.  If Landlord so uses any of the Security Deposit, Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after 
written demand therefore, restore the Security Deposit to the full amount originally deposited; Tenant’s failure to do so 
shall constitute an act of default hereunder and Landlord shall have the right to exercise any remedy provided for at 
Article 27 hereof.  Within fifteen (15) days after the Term (or any extension thereof) has expired or Tenant has vacated 
the Premises, whichever shall last occur, and provided Tenant is not then in default on any of its obligations hereunder, 
Landlord shall return the Security Deposit to Tenant, or, if Tenant has assigned its interest under this Lease, to the last 
assignee of Tenant.  If Landlord sells its interest in the Premises, Landlord may deliver this deposit to the purchaser of 
Landlord’s interest and thereupon be relieved of any further liability or obligation with respect to the Security Deposit. 
 
8. TENANT’S USE OF THE PREMISES 
 
Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the purposes set forth in Tenant’s Use Clause.  Tenant shall not use or occupy the 
Premises in violation of law or any covenant, condition or restriction affecting the Building or Project or the certificate of 
occupancy issued for the Building or Project, and shall, upon notice from Landlord, immediately discontinue any use of 
the Premises which is declared by any governmental authority having jurisdiction to be a violation of law or the 
certificate of occupancy.  Tenant, at Tenant’s own cost and expense, shall comply with all laws, ordinances, regulations, 
rules and/or any directions of any governmental agencies or authorities having jurisdiction which shall, by reason of the 
nature of Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, impose any duty upon Tenant or Landlord with respect to the 
Premises or its use or occupation.  A judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction or the admission by Tenant in any 
action or proceeding against Tenant that Tenant has violated any such laws, ordinances, regulations, rules and/or 
directions in the use of the Premises shall be deemed to be a conclusive determination of that fact as between Landlord 
and Tenant.  Tenant shall not do or permit to be done anything, which will invalidate or increase the cost of any fire, 
extended coverage or other insurance policy covering the Building or Project and/or property located therein, and shall 
comply with all rules, orders, regulations, requirements and recommendations of the Insurance Services Office or any 
other organization performing a similar function.  Tenant shall promptly upon demand reimburse Landlord for any 
additional premium charged for such policy by reason of Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Article.  
Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way obstruct or interfere 
with the rights of other tenants or occupants of the Building or Project, or injure or annoy them, or use or allow the 
Premises to be used for any improper, immoral, unlawful or objectionable purpose, nor shall Tenant cause, maintain or 
permit any nuisance in, on or about the Premises.  Tenant shall not commit or suffer to be committed any waste in or 
upon the Premises. 
 
9. SERVICES AND UTILITIES. 
 
Provided that Tenant is not in default hereunder, Landlord agrees to furnish to the Premises during generally recognized 
business days, and during hours determined by Landlord in its sole discretion, and subject to the Rules and Regulations 
of the Building or Project, electricity for normal desk top office equipment and normal copying equipment, and heating, 
ventilation and air conditioning (”HVAC”) as required in Landlord’s judgment for the comfortable use and occupancy of 
the Premises.  If Tenant desires HVAC at any other time, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to furnish such service 
upon reasonable notice from Tenant and Tenant shall pay Landlord’s charges therefore on demand.  Landlord shall also 
maintain and keep lighted the common stairs, common entries and restrooms in the Building.  Landlord shall not be in 
default hereunder or be liable for any damages directly or indirectly resulting from, nor shall the Rent be abated by reason 
of (I) the installation, use or interruption of use of any equipment in connection with the furnishing of any of the 
foregoing services, (ii) failure to furnish or delay in furnishing any such services where such failure or delay is caused by 
accident or any condition or event beyond the reasonable control of Landlord, or by the making of necessary repairs or 
improvements to the Premises, Building or Project, or (iii) the limitation, curtailment or rationing of, or restrictions on, 
use of water, electricity, gas or any other form of energy serving the Premises, Building or Project.  Landlord shall not be 
liable under any circumstances for a loss of or injury to property or business, however occurring, through or in connection 
with or incidental to failure to furnish any such services.  If Tenant uses heat generating machines or equipment in the 
Premises which affect the temperature otherwise maintained by the HVAC system, Landlord reserves the right to install 
supplementary air conditioning units in the Premises and the cost thereof, including the cost of installation, operation 
and maintenance thereof, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon demand by Landlord. 
 
Tenant shall not, without the written consent of Landlord, use any apparatus or devise in the Premises, including 
without limitation, electronic data processing machines, punch card machines or machines using in excess of 120 volts, 
which consumes more electricity than is usually furnished or supplied for the use of premises as general office space, as 
determined by Landlord.  Tenant shall not connect any apparatus with electric current except through existing electrical 
outlets in the Premises.  Tenant shall not consume water or electric current in excess of that usually furnished or supplied 
for the use of premises as general office space (as determined by Landlord), without first procuring the written consent of 
Landlord, which Landlord may refuse, and in the event of consent, Landlord may have installed a water meter or electrical 

Page 115 of 146



 

7 

 

  

 

current meter in the Premises to measure the amount of water or electric current consumed.  The cost of any such meter 
and of its installation, maintenance and repair shall be paid for by the Tenant and Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord 
Promptly upon demand for all such water and electric current consumed as shown by said meters, at the rates charged for 
such services by the local public utility plus any additional expense incurred in keeping account of the water and electric 
current so consumed.  If a separate meter is not installed, the excess cost for such water and electric current shall be 
established by an estimate made by a utility company or electrical engineer hired by Landlord at Tenant’s expense. 
 
Nothing contained in this Article shall restrict Landlord’s right to require at any time separate metering of utilities 
furnished to the Premises.  In the event utilities are separately metered, Tenant shall pay promptly upon demand for all 
utilities consumed at utility rates charged by the local public utility plus any additional expense incurred by Landlord in 
keeping account of the utilities so consumed.  Tenant shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of any such 
meters at it sole cost. 
 
Landlord shall furnish elevator service, lighting replacement for building standard lights, restroom supplies, window 
washing and janitor services of common area in a manner that such services are customarily furnished to comparable 
office buildings in the area. 
 
10. CONDITION OF THE PREMISES. 
 
Tenant’s taking possession of the Premises shall be deemed conclusive evidence that as of the date of taking possession of 
the Premises are in good order and satisfactory condition, except for such matters as to which Tenant gave Landlord 
notice on or before the Commencement Date.  No promise of Landlord to alter, remodel, repair or improve the Premises, 
the Building or the Project and no representation, express or implied, respecting any matter or thing relating to the 
Premises, Building, Project or this Lease (including, without limitation, the condition of the Premises, the Building or the 
Project) have been made to Tenant by Landlord or its Broker or Sales Agent, other than as may be contained herein or in a 
separate exhibit or addendum signed by Landlord and Tenant. 
 
11. CONSTRUCTION, REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE. 
 

a. Landlord’s Obligations:  Landlord shall maintain in good order, condition and repair the Building and all other 
portions of the Premises not the obligation of Tenant or of any other tenant in the Building. 

 
b. Tenant’s Obligations: 

(1.)  Tenant shall perform Tenant’s Work to the Premises as described in an exhibit specific to tenant 
improvements, if applicable.” 
 
(2.) Tenant at Tenant’s sole expense shall, except for services furnished by Landlord pursuant to Article 9 hereof, 

maintain the Premises in good order, condition and repair, including the interior surfaces of the ceilings, 
walls and floors, all doors, all interior windows, all plumbing, pipes and fixtures, electrical wiring, switches 
and fixtures, Building Standard furnishings and special items and equipment installed by or at the expense of 
Tenant. 

 
(3.) Tenant shall be responsible for all repairs and alterations in and to the Premises, Building and Project and the 

facilities and systems thereof, the need for which arises out of (i) Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, 
(ii) the installation, removal, use or operation of Tenant’s Property (as defined in Article 13) in the Premises, 
(iii) the moving of Tenant’s Property into or out of the Building, or (iv) the act, omission, misuse or 
negligence of Tenant, its agents, contractors, employees or invitees. 

 
(4.) If Tenant fails to maintain the Premises in good order, condition and repair, Landlord shall give Tenant notice 

to do such acts as are reasonably required to so maintain the Premises.  If Tenant fails to promptly commence 
such work and diligently prosecute it to completion, then Landlord shall have the right to do such acts and 
expend such funds at the expense of Tenant as are reasonably required to perform such work.  Any amount 
so expended by Landlord shall be paid by Tenant promptly after demand with interest at the prime 
commercial rate then being charged by Bank of America NT & SA plus two percent (2%) per annum, from 
the date of such work, but not to exceed the maximum rate then allowed by law.  Landlord shall have no 
liability to Tenant for any damage, inconvenience, or interference with the use of the Premises by Tenant as a 
result of performing any such work. 

 
c. Compliance with Law: Landlord and Tenant shall each do all acts required to comply with all applicable laws, 

ordinances, and rules of any public authority relating to their respective maintenance obligations as set forth 
herein. 

 
d. Waiver by Tenant: Tenant expressly waives the benefits of any statute now or hereafter in effect which would 

otherwise afford the Tenant the right to make repairs at Landlord’s expense or to terminate this Lease because of 
Landlord’s failure to keep the Premises in good order, condition and repair. 

 
e. Load and Equipment Limits: Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises which exceeds the load per 

square foot which such floor was designed to carry, as determined by Landlord or Landlord’s structural engineer.  
The cost of any such determination made by Landlord’s structural engineer shall be paid for by Tenant upon 

Page 116 of 146



 

8 

 

  

 

demand.  Tenant shall not install business machines or mechanical equipment which cause noise or vibration to 
such a degree as to be objectionable to Landlord or other Building tenants. 

 
f. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, Landlord shall have no liability to Tenant nor shall Tenant’s 

obligations under this Lease be reduced or abated in any manner whatsoever by reason of any inconvenience, 
annoyance, interruption or injury to business arising from Landlord’s making any repairs or changes which 
Landlord is required or permitted by this Lease or by any other tenant’s lease or required by law to make in or to 
any portion of the Project, Building or the Premises.  Landlord shall nevertheless use reasonable efforts to 
minimize any interference with Tenant’s business in the Premises. 

 
g. Tenant shall give Landlord prompt notice of any damage to or defective condition in any part or appurtenance of 

the Building’s mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC or other systems serving, located in, or passing through 
the Premises. 

 
h. Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall return the Premises to Landlord clean and 

in the same condition as on the date Tenant took possession, except for normal wear and tear.  Any damage to the 
Premises, including any structural damage, resulting from Tenant’s use or from the removal of Tenant’s fixtures, 
furnishings and equipment pursuant to Section 13b shall be repaired by Tenant at Tenant’s expense. 

 
12. ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS. 
 

a. Tenant shall not make any additions, alterations or improvements to the Premises without obtaining the prior 
written consent of Landlord.  Landlord’s consent may be conditioned on Tenant’s removing any such additions, 
alterations or improvements upon the expiration of the term and restoring the Premises to the same condition as 
on the date Tenant took possession.  All work with respect to any addition, alteration or improvement shall be 
done in a good and workmanlike manner by properly qualified and licensed personnel approved by Landlord, and 
such work shall be diligently prosecuted to completion.  Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, require that any 
such work be performed by Landlord’s contractor in which case the cost of such work shall be paid for before 
commencement of the work.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon completion of any such work by Landlord’s 
contractor, an administrative fee of fifteen percent (15%) of the cost of the work. 

 
b. Tenant shall pay the costs of any work done on the Premises pursuant to Section 12a, and shall keep the Premises, 

Building and Project free and clear of liens of any kind.  Tenant shall indemnify, defend against and keep Landlord 
free and harmless from all liability, loss, damage, costs, attorneys’ fees and any other expense incurred on account 
of claims by any person performing work or furnishing materials or supplies for Tenant or any person claiming 
under Tenant. 

 
Tenant shall keep Tenant’s leasehold interest, and any additions or improvements which are or become the 
property of Landlord under this Lease, free and clear of all attachment or judgment liens.  Before the actual 
commencement of any work for which a claim or lien may be filed, Tenant shall give Landlord notice of the 
intended commencement date a sufficient time before that date to enable Landlord to post notices of non-
responsibility or any other notices which Landlord deems necessary for the proper protection of Landlord’s 
interest in the Premises, Building or the Project, and Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises and post 
such notice at any reasonable time. 

 
c. Landlord may require, at Landlord’s sole option, that Tenant provide to Landlord, at Tenant’s expense, a lien and 

completion bond in an amount equal to at least one and one-half (1.5) times the total estimated cost of any 
additions, alterations or improvements to be made in or to the Premises, to protect Landlord against any liability 
for mechanic’s and material men’s liens and to insure timely completion of the work.  Nothing contained in this 
Section 12c shall relieve Tenant of its obligations under Section 12b to keep the Premises, Building and Project 
free of all liens. 

 
d. Unless their removal is required by Landlord as provided in Section 12a, all additions, alterations and 

improvements made to the Premises shall become the property of Landlord and be surrendered with the Premises 
upon the expiration of the Term; provided, however, Tenant’s equipment, machinery and trade fixtures which 
can be removed without damage to the Premises shall remain the property of Tenant and may be removed, 
subject to the provisions of Section 13b. 

 
13. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS; TENANT’S PROPERTY. 
 

a. All fixtures, equipment, improvements and appurtenances attached to or built into the Premises at the 
commencement of or during the Term, whether or not by or at the expense of Tenant (“Leasehold 
Improvements”), shall be and remain a part of the Premises, shall be the property of Landlord and shall not be 
removed by Tenant, except as expressly provided in Section 13b. 

 
b. All movable partitions, business and trade fixtures, machinery and equipment, communications equipment and 

office equipment located in the Premises and acquired by or for the account of Tenant, without expense to 
Landlord, which can be removed without structural damage to the Building, and all furniture, furnishings and 
other articles of movable personal property owned by Tenant and located in the Premises (collectively “Tenant’s 
Property”) shall be and shall remain the property of Tenant and may be removed by Tenant at any time during the 

Page 117 of 146



 

9 

 

  

 

Term; provided that if any of Tenant’s Property is removed, Tenant shall promptly repair any damage to the 
Premises or to the Building resulting from such removal. 

 
14. RULES AND REGULATIONS. 
 
Tenant agrees to comply with (and cause its agents, contractors, employees and invitees to comply with) the rules and 
regulations attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and with such reasonable modifications thereof and additions thereto as 
Landlord may from time to time make.  Landlord shall not be responsible for any violation of said rules and regulations by 
other tenants or occupants of the Building of Project. 
 
15. CERTAIN RIGHTS RESERVED BY LANDLORD. 
 
Landlord reserves the following rights, exercisable without liability to Tenant for (a) damage or injury to property, 
person or business, (b) causing an actual or constructive eviction from the Premises, or (c) disturbing Tenant’s use or 
possession of the Premises: 
 

a. To name the Building and Project and to change the name or street address of the Building or Project; 
 

b. To install and maintain all signs on the exterior and interior of the Building and Project; 
 

c. To have pass keys to the Premises and all doors within the Premises, eluding Tenant’s vaults and safes; 
 

d. At any time during the Term, and on reasonable prior notice to Tenant, to inspect the Premises, and to show the 
Premises to any prospective purchaser or mortgagee of the Project, or to any assignee of any mortgage on the 
Project, or to others having an interest in the Project or Landlord, and during the last six months of the Term, to 
show the Premises to prospective tenants thereof; and 

 
e. To enter the Premises for the purpose of making inspections, repairs, alterations, additions or improvements to 

the Premises or the Building (including, without limitation, checking, calibrating, adjusting or balancing controls 
and other parts of the HVAC system), and to take all steps as may be necessary or desirable for the safety, 
protection, maintenance or preservation of the Premises or the Building or Landlord’s interest therein, or as may 
be necessary or desirable for the operation or improvement of the Building or in order to comply with laws, 
orders or requirements of governmental or other authority.  Landlord agrees to use its best efforts (except in an 
emergency) to minimize interference with Tenant’s business in the Premises in the course of any such entry. 

 
16. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. 
 
No assignment of this Lease or sublease of all or any part of the Premises shall be permitted, except as provided in this 
Article 16. 
 

a. Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, assign or hypothecate this Lease or any interest 
herein or sublet the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the use of the Premises by any party other than 
Tenant.  Any of the foregoing acts without such consent shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, 
terminate this Lease.  This Lease shall not, nor shall any interest of Tenant herein, be assignable by operation of 
law without the written consent of Landlord. 

 
b. If at any time or from time to time during the Term Tenant desires to assign this Lease or sublet all or any part of 

the Premises, Tenant shall give notice to Landlord setting forth the terms and provisions of the proposed 
assignment or sublease, and the identity of the proposed assignee or subtenant.  Tenant shall promptly supply 
Landlord with such information concerning the business background and financial condition of such proposed 
assignee or subtenant as Landlord may reasonably request.  Landlord shall have the option, exercisable by notice 
given to Tenant within twenty (20) days after Tenant’s notice is given, either to sublet such space from Tenant at 
the rental and on the other terms set forth in this Lease for the term set forth in Tenant’s notice, or, in the case of 
an assignment, to terminate this Lease.  If Landlord does not exercise such option, Tenant may assign the Lease or 
sublet such space to such proposed assignee or subtenant on the following further conditions: 

 
(1.) Landlord shall have the right to approve such proposed assignee or subtenant, which approval shall not be   

unreasonably withheld; 
 

(2.) The assignment or sublease shall be on the same terms set forth in the notice given to Landlord; 
 

(3.) No assignment or sublease shall be valid and no assignee or sub lessee shall take possession of the Premises 
until an executed counterpart of such assignment or sublease has been delivered to Landlord; 

 
(4.) No assignee or sub lessee shall have a further right to assign or sublet except on the terms herein contained; 

and  
 

(5.) Any sums or other economic consideration received by Tenant as a result of such assignment or subletting, 
however denominated under the assignment or sublease, which exceed, in the aggregate, (i) the total sums 
which Tenant is obligated to pay Landlord under this Lease (prorated to reflect obligations allocable to any 

Page 118 of 146



 

10 

 

  

 

portion of the Premises subleased), plus (ii) any real estate brokerage commissions or fees payable in 
connection with such assignment or subletting, shall be paid to Landlord as additional rent under this Lease 
without affecting or reducing any other obligations of Tenant hereunder. 

 
c. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs a and b above, Tenant may assign this Lease or sublet the Premises 

or any portion thereof, without Landlord’s consent and without extending any recapture or termination option 
to Landlord, to any corporation which controls, is controlled by or is under common control with Tenant, or to 
any corporation resulting from a merger or consolidation with Tenant, or to any person or entity which acquires 
all the assets of Tenant’s business as a going concern, provided that (i) the assignee or sub lessee assumes, in full, 
the obligations of Tenant under this Lease, (ii) Tenant remains fully liable under this Lease, and (iii) the use of 
the Premises under Article 8 remains unchanged. 

 
d. No subletting or assignment shall release Tenant of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease or alter the primary 

liability of Tenant to pay the Rent and to perform all other obligations to be performed by Tenant hereunder.  The 
acceptance of Rent by landlord from any other person shall not be deemed to be a waiver by Landlord of any 
provision hereof.  Consent to one assignment or subletting shall not be deemed consent to any subsequent 
assignment or subletting.  In the event of default by an assignee or subtenant or any successor of Tenant in the 
performance of any of the terms hereof, Landlord may proceed directly against Tenant without the necessity of 
exhausting remedies against such assignee, subtenant or successor.  Landlord may consent to subsequent 
assignments of the Lease or sub lettings or amendments or modifications to the Lease with assignees of tenant, 
without notifying Tenant, or any successor of Tenant, and without obtaining its or their consent thereof and any 
such actions shall not relieve Tenant of liability under this Lease. 

 
e. If Tenant assigns the Lease or sublets the Premises or requests the consent of Landlord to any assignment or 

subletting or if Tenant requests the consent of Landlord for any act that Tenant proposes to do, then Tenant 
shall, upon demand, pay Landlord an administrative fee of One Hundred Fifty and No/100 Dollars ($150.00) plus 
any attorney’s fees reasonably incurred by Landlord in connection with such act or request. 

 
17. HOLDING OVER. 
 
If after expiration of the Term, Tenant remains in possession of the Premises with Landlord’s permission (express or 
implied), Tenant shall become a tenant from month to month only, upon all the provisions of this Lease (except as to 
term and Base Rent), but the “Monthly Installments of Base Rent” payable by Tenant shall be increased to one hundred 
fifty percent (150%) of the Monthly Installments of Base Rent payable by Tenant at the expiration of the Term.  Such 
monthly rent shall be payable in advance on or before the first day of each month.  If either party desires to terminate 
such month-to-month tenancy, it shall give the other party not less than thirty (30) days advance written notice of the 
date of termination. 
 
18. SURRENDER OF PREMISES. 
 

a. Tenant shall peaceably surrender the Premises to Landlord on the Expiration Date, in broom-clean condition and 
in as good condition as when Tenant took possession, except for (i) reasonable wear and tear, (ii) loss by fire or 
other casualty, and (iii) loss by condemnation.  Tenant shall, on Landlord’s request, remove Tenant’s Property on 
or before the Expiration Date and promptly repair all damage to the Premises or Building caused by such removal. 

 
b. If Tenant abandons or surrenders the Premises, or is dispossessed by process of law or otherwise, any of Tenant’s 

Property left on the Premises shall be deemed to be abandoned, and, at Landlord’s option, title shall pass to 
Landlord under this Lease as by a bill of sale.  If Landlord elects to remove all or any part of such Tenant’s 
Property, the cost of removal, including repairing any damage to the Premises or Building caused by such 
removal, shall be paid by Tenant.  On the Expiration Date Tenant shall surrender all keys to the Premises. 

 
19. DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE. 
 

a. If the Premises or the portion of the Building necessary for Tenant’s occupancy is damaged by fire, earthquake, 
act of God, the elements, or other casualty, Landlord shall, subject to the provisions of this Article, promptly 
repair the damage, if such repairs can, in Landlord’s opinion, be completed within ninety (90) days.  If Landlord 
determines that repairs can be completed with ninety (90) days, this Lease shall remain in full force and effect, 
except that if such damage is not the result of the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant or Tenant’s agents, 
employees, contractors, licensees, or invitees, the Base Rent shall be abated to the extent Tenant’s use of the 
Premises is impaired, commencing with the date of damage and continuing until completion of the repairs 
required of Landlord under Section 19d. 

 
b. If in Landlord’s opinion, such repairs to the Premises or portion of the Building necessary for Tenant’s occupancy 

cannot be completed within ninety (90) days, Landlord may elect, upon notice to Tenant given within thirty (30) 
days after the date of such fire or other casualty, to repair such damage, in which event this Lease shall continue 
in full force and effect, but the Base Rent shall be partially abated as provided in Section 19a.  If Landlord does not 
so elect to make such repairs, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such fire or other casualty. 

 
c. If any other portion of the Building or Project is totally destroyed or damaged to the extent that in Landlord’s 

opinion repair thereof cannot be completed within ninety (90) days, Landlord may elect upon notice to Tenant 

Page 119 of 146



 

11 

 

  

 

given within thirty (30) days after the date of such fire or other casualty, to repair such damage, in which event 
this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, but the Base Rent shall be partially abated as provided in Section 
19a.  If Landlord does not so elect to make such repairs, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such fire or 
other casualty. 

 
d. If the Premises are to be repaired under this Article, Landlord shall repair at its cost any injury or damage to the 

Building and Building Standard Work in the Premises.  Tenant shall be responsible at its sole cost and expense 
for the repair, restoration, and replacement of any other Leasehold Improvements and Tenant’s Property.  
Landlord shall not be liable for any loss of business, inconvenience or annoyance arising from any repair or 
restoration of any portion of the Premises, Building, or Project as a result of any damage from fire or other 
casualty. 

 
e. This Lease shall be considered an express agreement governing any case of damage to or destruction of the 

Premises, Building, or Project by fire or other casualty, and any present or future law which purports to govern 
the rights of Landlord and Tenant in such circumstances in the absent of express agreement, shall have no 
application. 

 
20. EMINENT DOMAIN. 
 

a. If the whole of the Building or Premises is lawfully taken by condemnation or in any other manner for any public 
or quasi-public purpose, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such taking, and Rent shall be prorated to 
such date.  If less than the whole of the Building or Premises is so taken, this Lease shall be unaffected by such 
taking, provided that (i) Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease by notice to Landlord given within 
ninety (90) days after the date of such taking if twenty percent (20%) or more of the Premises is taken and the 
remaining area of the Premises is not reasonably sufficient for Tenant to continue operation of its business, and 
(ii) Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease by notice to Tenant given within ninety (90) days after 
the date of such taking.  If either Landlord or Tenant so elects to terminate this Lease, the Lease shall terminate 
on the thirtieth (30th) day after either such notice.  The Rent shall be prorated to the date of termination.  If this 
Lease continues in force upon such partial taking, the Base Rent and Tenant’s Proportionate Share shall be 
equitably adjusted according to the remaining Rentable Area of the Premises and Project. 

 
b. In the event of any taking, partial or whole, all of the proceeds of any award, judgment, or settlement payable by 

the condemning authority shall be the exclusive property of Landlord, and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord all 
of its right, title, and interest in any award, judgment, or settlement from the condemning authority.  Tenant, 
however, shall have the right, to the extent that Landlord’s award is not reduced or prejudiced, to claim from the 
condemning authority (but not from Landlord) such compensation as may be recoverable by Tenant in its own 
right for relocation expenses and damage to Tenant’s personal property. 

 
c. In the event of a partial taking of the Premises which does not result in a termination of this Lease, Landlord shall 

restore the remaining portion of the Premises as nearly as practicable to its condition prior to the condemnation 
or taking, but only to the extent of Building Standard Work.  Tenant shall be responsible at its sole cost and 
expenses for the repair, restoration, and replacement of any other Leasehold improvements and Tenant’s 
Property. 

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION. 
 

a. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless against and from liability and claims of any kind for loss or 
damage to property of Tenant or any other person, or for any injury to or death of any person, arising out of:  
(1) Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises, or any work, activity, or other things allowed or suffered by 
Tenant to be done in, on, or about the Premises; (2) any breach or default by Tenant of any of the Tenant’s 
obligations under this Lease; or (3) any negligent or otherwise tortuous act or omission of Tenant, its agents, 
employees, invitees, or contractors.  Tenant shall at Tenant’s expense and by counsel satisfactory to Landlord, 
defend Landlord in any action or proceeding arising from any such claim and shall indemnify Landlord against all 
costs, attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and any other expenses incurred in such action or proceeding.  As a 
material part of the consideration for Landlord’s execution of this Lease, Tenant hereby assumes all risk of 
damage or injury to any person or property in, on, or about the Premises from any cause. 

 
b. Landlord shall not be liable for injury or damage which may be sustained by the person or property of Tenant, its 

employees, invitees, or customers or any other person in or about the Premises, caused by or resulting from fire, 
steam, electricity, gas, water, or rain which may leak or flow from or into any part of the Premises, or from the 
breakage, leakage, obstruction, or other defects of pipes, sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, air conditioning, 
or lighting fixtures, whether such damage or injury results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon 
other portions of the Building or Project or from other sources.  Landlord shall not be liable for any damages 
arising from any act or omission of any other tenant of the Building or Project. 

 
22. TENANT’S INSURANCE. 
 

a. All insurance required to be carried by Tenant hereunder shall be issued by responsible insurance companies 
acceptable to Landlord and Landlord’s lender and qualified to do business in the State.  Each policy shall name 
Landlord, and at Landlord’s request any mortgagee of Landlord, as an additional insured, as their respective 

Page 120 of 146



 

12 

 

  

 

interests may appear.  Each policy shall contain (i) a cross-liability endorsement, (ii) a provision that such policy 
and the coverage evidenced thereby shall be primary and non-contributing with respect to any policies carried by 
Landlord and that any coverage carried by Landlord shall be excess insurance, and (iii) a waiver by the insurer of 
any right of subrogation against Landlord, its agents, employees, and representatives, which arises or might arise 
by reason of any payment under such policy or by reason of any act or omission of Landlord, its agents, 
employees, or representatives.  A copy of each paid up policy (authenticated by the insurer) or certificate of the 
insurer evidencing the existence and amount of each insurance policy required hereunder shall be delivered to 
Landlord before the date Tenant is first given the right of possession of the Premises, and thereafter within thirty 
(30) days after any demand by Landlord therefore.  Landlord may, at any time and from time to time, inspect 
and/or copy any insurance policies required to be maintained by Tenant hereunder.  No such policy shall be 
cancelable except after twenty (20) days written notice to Landlord and Landlord’s lender.  Tenant shall furnish 
Landlord with renewals or “binders” of any such policy at least ten (10) days prior to the expiration th4ereof.  
Tenant agrees that if Tenant does not take out and maintain such insurance, Landlord may (but shall not be 
required to) procure said insurance on Tenant’s behalf and charge the Tenant the premiums together with a 
twenty-five percent (25%) handling charge, payable upon demand.  Tenant shall have the right to provide such 
insurance coverage pursuant to blanket policies obtained by the Tenant, provided such blanket policies expressly 
afford coverage to the Premises, Landlord, Landlord’s mortgagee, and Tenant as required by this Lease. 

 
b. Beginning on the date Tenant is given access to the Premises for any purpose and continuing until expiration of 

the Term, Tenant shall procure, pay for and maintain in effect policies of casualty insurance covering (i) all 
Leasehold Improvements (including any alterations, additions, or improvements as may be made by Tenant 
pursuant to the provisions of Article 12 hereof), and (ii) trade fixtures, merchandise, and other personal property 
from time to time in, on, or about the Premises, in an amount not less than one hundred percent (100%) of their 
actual replacement cost from time to time, providing protection against any peril included within the 
classification “Fire and Extended Coverage” together with insurance against sprinkler damage, vandalism, and 
malicious mischief.  The proceeds of such insurance shall be used for the repair or replacement of the property so 
insured.  Upon termination of this Lease following a casualty as set forth herein, the proceeds under (i) above be 
paid to Landlord, and the proceeds under (ii) above be paid to Tenant. 

 
c. Beginning on the date Tenant is given access to the Premises for any purpose and continuing until expiration of 

the Term, Tenant shall procure, pay for, and maintain in effect worker’s compensation insurance as required by 
law and comprehensive public liability and property damage insurance with respect to the construction of 
improvements on the Premises, the use, operation, or condition of the Premises, and the operations of Tenant in, 
on, or about the Premises, providing broad form property damage coverage for not less than Five Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($500,000) per person and  One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence, and property 
damage liability insurance with a limit of not less than Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) each 
accident. 

 
d. Not less than every three (3) years during the Term, Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree to increases in all 

of Tenant’s insurance policy limits for all insurance to be carried by Tenant as set forth in this Article.  In the 
event Landlord and Tenant cannot mutually agree upon the amounts of said increases, then Tenant agrees that all 
insurance policy limits as set forth in this Article shall be adjusted for increases in the cost of living in the same 
manner as is set forth in Section 5.2 hereof for the adjustment of the Base Rent. 

 
23. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. 
 
Landlord and Tenant each hereby waive all rights or recovery against the other and against the officers, employees, 
agents, and representatives of the other, on account of loss by or damage to the waiving party of its property or the 
property of others under its control, to the extent that such loss or damage is insured against under any fire and extended 
overage insurance policy which either may have in force at the time of the loss or damage.  Tenant shall, upon obtaining 
the policies of insurance required under this Lease, give notice to its insurance carrier or carriers that the foregoing 
mutual waiver of subrogation is contained in this Lease. 
 
24. SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT. 
 
Upon written request of Landlord, or any first mortgagee or first deed of trust beneficiary of Landlord, or ground lessor of 
Landlord, Tenant shall, in writing, subordinate its rights under this Lease to the lien of any first mortgage or first deed of 
trust, or to the interest of any lease in which Landlord is lessee, and to all advances made or thereafter to be made 
thereunder.  However, before signing any subordination agreement, Tenant shall have the right to obtain from any lender 
or lessor or Landlord requesting such subordination, an agreement in writing providing that, as long as Tenant is not in 
default hereunder, this Lease shall remain in effect for the full Term.  The holder of any security interest may, upon 
written notice to Tenant, elect to have this Lease prior to its security interest regardless of the time of the granting or 
recording of such security interest. 
 
In the event of any foreclosure sale, transfer in lieu of foreclosure, or termination of the lease in which Landlord is lessee, 
Tenant shall attorn to the purchaser, transferee, or lessor, as the case may be, and recognize that party as Landlord under 
this Lease provided such party acquires and accepts the Premises subject to this Lease. 
 
25. TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE. 
 

Page 121 of 146



 

13 

 

  

 

Within ten (10) days after written request from Landlord, Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord or Landlord’s 
designee, a written statement certifying (a) that this lease is unmodified and in full force and effect, or is in full force and 
effect as modified and stating the modifications; (b) the amount of Base Rent and the date to which Base Rent and 
additional rent have been paid in advance; (c) the amount of any security deposited with Landlord; and (d) that Landlord 
is not in default hereunder or, if Landlord is claimed to be in default, stating the nature lf any claimed default.  Any such 
statement may be relied upon by a purchaser, assignee, or lender.  Tenant’s failure to execute and deliver such statement 
within the time required shall at Landlord’s election be a default under this Lease and shall also be conclusive upon 
Tenant that:  (1) this Lease is in full force and effect and has not been modified except as represented by Landlord; 
(2) there are no uncured defaults in Landlord’s performance and that Tenant has not right of offset, counter-claim, or 
deduction against Rent; and (3) not more than one month’s Rent has been paid in advance. 
 
26. TRANSFER OF LANDLORD’S INTEREST. 
 
In the event of any sale or transfer by Landlord of the Premises, Building, or Project, and assignment of this Lease by 
Landlord, Landlord shall be and is hereby entirely freed and relieved of any and all liability and obligations contained in 
or derived from this Lease arising out of any act, occurrence, or omission relating to the Premises, Building, Project, or 
Lease occurring after the consummation of such sale or transfer, providing the purchaser shall expressly assume all of the 
covenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease.  If any security deposit or prepaid Rent has been paid by Tenant, 
Landlord may transfer the security deposit or prepaid Rent to Landlord’s successor and upon such transfer, Landlord 
shall be relieved of any and all further liability with respect thereto. 
 
27. DEFAULT. 
 
27.1. Tenant’s Default.  The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a default and breach of 
this Lease by Tenant: 
 

a. If Tenant abandons or vacates the Premises; or 
 

b. If Tenant fails to pay any Rent or any other charges required to be paid by Tenant under this Lease and such 
failure continues for five (5) days after such payment is due and payable; or  

 
c. If Tenant fails to promptly and fully perform any other covenant, condition, or agreement contained in this lease 

and such failure continues for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant; or 
 

d. If a writ of attachment or execution is levied on this Lease or on any of Tenant’s Property; or 
 

e. If Tenant makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or provides for an arrangement, composition, 
extension or adjustment with its creditors; or  

 
f. If Tenant files a voluntary petition for relief or if a petition against Tenant in a proceeding under the federal 

bankruptcy laws or other insolvency laws is filed and not withdrawn or dismissed within forty-five (45) days 
thereafter, or if under the provisions of any law providing for reorganization or winding up of corporations, any 
court of competent jurisdiction assumes jurisdiction, custody, or control of Tenant or any substantial part of its 
property and such jurisdiction, custody, or control remains in force unrelinquished, unstayed, or unterminated 
for a period of forty-five (45) days; or 

 
g. If in any proceeding or action in which Tenant is not a party, a trustee, receiver, agent, or custodian is appointed 

to take charge of the Premises or Tenant’s Property (or has the authority to do so) for the purpose of enforcing a 
lien against the Premises or Tenant’s Property; or 

 
h. If Tenant is a partnership or consists of more than one (1) person or entity, if any partner of the partnership or 

other person or entity is involved in any of the acts or events described in subparagraphs d through g above. 
 
27.2. Remedies.  In the event of Tenant’s default hereunder, then, in addition to any other rights or remedies Landlord 

may  have under any law, Landlord shall have the right, at Landlord’s option, without further notice or demand of 
any kind to do the following: 

 
a. Terminate this Lease and Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises and re-enter the Premises and take 

possession thereof, and Tenant shall have no further claim to the Premises or under this Lease; or 
 

b. Continue this Lease in effect, re-enter and occupy the Premises for the account of Tenant, and collect any unpaid 
Rent or other charges which have or thereafter become due and payable; or 

 
c. Re-enter the Premises under the provisions of subparagraph b and thereafter elect to terminate this Lease and 

Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises. 
 

If Landlord re-enters the Premises under the provisions of subparagraph b or c above, Landlord shall not be 
deemed to have terminated this Lease or the obligation of Tenant to pay any Rent or other charges thereafter 
accruing, unless Landlord notifies Tenant in writing of Landlord’s election to terminate this Lease.  In the event 
of any re-entry or retaking of possession by Landlord, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 

Page 122 of 146



 

14 

 

  

 

remove all or any part of Tenant’s Property in the Premises and to place such property in storage at a public 
warehouse at the expense and risk of Tenant.  If Landlord elects to relet the Premises for the account of Tenant, 
the rent received by Landlord from such reletting shall be applied as follows:  first, to the payment of any 
indebtedness other than Rent due hereunder from Tenant to Landlord; second, to the payment of any costs of 
such reletting; third, to the payment of the cost of any alterations or repairs to the Premises; fourth, to the 
payment of Rent due and unpaid hereunder; and the balance, if any, shall be held by Landlord and applied in 
payment of future Rent as it becomes due.  If that portion of rent received from the reletting, which is applied 
against, the Rent due hereunder is less than the amount of the Rent due, Tenant shall pay the deficiency to 
Landlord promptly upon demand by Landlord.  Such deficiency shall be calculated and paid monthly.  Tenant 
shall also pay to Landlord, as soon as determined, any costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection 
with such reletting or in making alterations and repairs to the Premises, which are not covered by the rent 
received from the reletting. 

 
Should Landlord elect to terminate this Lease under the provisions of subparagraph a or c above, Landlord may 
recover as damages from Tenant the following: 

 
 (1.) Past Rent.  The worth at the time of the award of any unpaid Rent which had been earned at the time of 

termination; plus 
 

 (2.) Rent Prior to Award.  The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent which 
would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that 
Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus 

 
 (3.) Rent After Award.  The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance 

of the Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of the rental loss that Tenant provides could be 
reasonably avoided; plus 

 
 (4.) Proximately Caused Damages.  Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all detriment 

proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary 
course of things would be likely to result therefrom including, but not limited to, any costs or expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees) incurred by Landlord in (a) retaking possession of the Premises, (b) maintaining 
the Premises after Tenant’s default, (c) preparing the Premises for reletting to a new tenant, including any 
repairs or alterations, and (d) reletting the Premises, including broker’s commissions. 

 
“The worth at the time of the award@ as used in subparagraphs 1 and 2 above is to be computed by allowing 
interest at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum.“ The worth at the time of the award@ as used in 
subparagraph 3 above is to be computed by discounting the amount at the discount rate of the Federal 
Reserve Bank situated nearest to the Premises at the time of the award plus one percent (1%). 

 
The waiver by Landlord of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition of this Lease shall not be deemed a 
waiver of such term, covenant, or condition or of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, 
covenant, or condition.  Acceptance of Rent by Landlord subsequent to any breach hereof shall not be 
deemed a waiver of any preceding breach other than the failure to pay the particular Rent so accepted, 
regardless of Landlord’s knowledge of any breach at the time of such acceptance of Rent.  Landlord shall not 
be deemed to have waived any term, covenant, or condition unless Landlord gives Tenant written notice of 
such waiver. 

 
27.3  Landlord’s Default.  If Landlord fails to perform any covenant, condition, or agreement contained in this Lease 

within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from Tenant specifying such default, or if such default 
cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days, if Landlord fails to commence to cure within that thirty (30) 
day period, then Landlord shall be liable to Tenant for any damages sustained by Tenant as a result of Landlord’s 
breach; provided, however, it is expressly understood and agreed that if Tenant obtains a money judgment 
against Landlord resulting from any default or other claim arising under this Lease, that judgment shall be 
satisfied only out of the rents, issues, profits, and other income actually received on account of Landlord’s right, 
title, and interest in the Premises, Building, or Project, and no other real, personal, or mixed property of Landlord 
(or of any of the partners which comprise Landlord, if any) wherever situated, shall be subject to levy to satisfy 
such judgment.  If, after notice to Landlord of default, Landlord (or any first mortgagee or first deed of trust 
beneficiary of Landlord) fails to cure the default as provided herein, then Tenant shall have the right to cure that 
default at Landlord’s expense.  Tenant shall not have the right to terminate this Lease or to withhold, reduce, or 
offset any amount against any payments of Rent or any other charges due and payable under this Lease, except as 
otherwise specifically provided herein. 

 
 
28. BROKERAGE FEES. 
 
Tenant warrants and represents that it has not dealt with any real estate broker or agent in connection with this Lease or 
its negotiation except those noted in Section 2.c.  Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any cost, 
expenses, or liability (including costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees) for any compensation, commission, or fees 
claimed by any other real estate broker or agent in connection with this Lease or its negotiation by reason of any act of 
Tenant. 

Page 123 of 146



 

15 

 

  

 

 
 
29. NOTICES. 
 
All notices, approvals, and demands permitted or required to be given under this Lease shall be in writing and deemed 
duly served or given if personally delivered or sent by certified or registered U.S. mail, postage prepaid, and addressed as 
follows:  (a) if to Landlord, to Landlord’s Mailing Address and to the Building manager, and (b) if to Tenant, to Tenant’s 
Mailing Address; provided, however, notices to Tenant shall be deemed duly served or given if delivered or mailed to 
Tenant at the Premises.  Landlord and Tenant may from time to time by notice to the other designate another place for 
receipt of future notices. 
 
 
30. GOVERNMENT ENERGY OR UTILITY CONTROLS. 
 
In the event of imposition of federal, state, or local government controls, rules, regulations, or restrictions on the use or 
consumption of energy or other utilities during the Term, both Landlord and Tenant shall be bound thereby.  In the event 
of a difference in interpretation by Landlord and Tenant of any such controls, the interpretation of Landlord shall prevail, 
and Landlord shall have the right to enforce compliance therewith, including the right of entry into the Premises to effect 
compliance. 
 
31. RELOCATION OF PREMISES. 
 
Landlord shall have the right to relocate the Premises to another part of the Building in accordance with the following: 
 

a. The new premises shall be substantially the same in size, dimension, configuration, decor and nature as the 
Premises described in this Lease, and if the relocation occurs after the Commencement Date, shall be placed in 
that condition by Landlord at its cost. 

 
b. Landlord shall give Tenant at least thirty (30) days written notice of Landlord’s intention to relocate the 

Premises. 
 

c. As nearly as practicable, the physical relocation of the Premises shall take place on a weekend and shall be 
completed before the following Monday.  If the physical relocation has not been completed in that time, Base 
Rent shall abate in full from the time the physical relocation commences to the time it is completed.  Upon 
completion of such relocation, the new premises shall become the “Premises” under this Lease. 

 
d. All reasonable costs incurred by Tenant as a result of the relocation shall be paid by Landlord. 

 
e. If the new premises are smaller than the Premises as it existed before the relocation, Base Rent shall be reduced 

proportionately. 
 

f. The parties hereto shall immediately execute an amendment to this Lease setting forth the relocation of the 
Premises and the reduction of Base Rent, if any. 

 
 
32.  QUIET ENJOYMENT. 
 
Tenant, upon paying the Rent and performing all of its obligations under this Lease, shall peaceably and quietly enjoy the 
Premises, subject to the terms of this Lease and to any mortgage, lease, or other agreement to which this Lease may be 
subordinate. 
 
33.  OBSERVANCE OF LAW. 
 
Tenant shall not use the Premises or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way conflict 
with any law, statute, ordinance or governmental rule or regulation now in force or which may hereafter be enacted or 
promulgated.  Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, promptly comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances and 
governmental rules, regulations or requirements now in force or which may hereafter be in force, and with the 
requirements of any board of fire insurance underwriters or other similar bodies now or hereafter constituted, relating to, 
or affecting the condition, use or occupancy of the Premises, excluding structural changes not related to or affected by 
Tenant’s improvements or acts.  The judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction or the admission of Tenant in any 
action against Tenant, whether Landlord is a party thereto or not, that Tenant has violated any law, ordinance or 
governmental rule, regulation or requirement, shall be conclusive of that fact as between Landlord and Tenant. 
 
34.  FORCE MAJEURE. 
 
Any prevention, delay or stoppage of work to be performed by Landlord or Tenant which is due to strikes, labor disputes, 
inability to obtain labor, materials, equipment or reasonable substitutes therefore, acts of God, governmental restrictions 
or regulations or controls, judicial orders, enemy or hostile government actions, civil commotion, fire or other casualty, or 
other causes beyond the reasonable control of the party obligated to perform hereunder, shall excuse performance of the 

Page 124 of 146



 

16 

 

  

 

work by that party for a period equal to the duration of that prevention, delay or stoppage.  Nothing in this Article 34 
shall excuse or delay Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent or other charges under this Lease. 
 
35.  CURING TENANT’S DEFAULTS. 
 
If Tenant defaults in the performance of any of its obligations under this Lease, Landlord may (but shall not be obligated 
to) without waiving such default, perform the same for the account at the expense of Tenant.  Tenant shall pay Landlord 
all costs of such performance promptly upon receipt of a bill therefore. 
 
 
 
36.  SIGN CONTROL. 
 
Tenant shall not affix, paint, erect or inscribe any sign, projection, awning, signal or advertisement of any kind to any part 
of the Premises, Building or Project, including without limitation, the inside or outside of windows or doors, without the 
written consent of Landlord.  Landlord shall have the right to remove any signs or other matter, installed without 
Landlord’s permission, without being liable to Tenant by reason of such removal, and to charge the cost of removal to 
Tenant as additional rent hereunder, payable within ten (10) days of written demand by Landlord. 
 
37. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

a. Accord and Satisfaction; Allocation of Payments: No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than 
the Rent provided for in this Lease shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest due Rent, nor shall 
any endorsement or statement on any check or letter accompanying any check or payment as Rent be deemed an 
accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right 
to recover the balance of the Rent or pursue any other remedy provided for in this Lease.  In connection with the 
foregoing, Landlord shall have the absolute right in its sole discretion to apply any payment received from Tenant 
to any account or other payment of Tenant then not current and due or delinquent. 

 
b. Addenda: If any provision contained in an addendum to this Lease is inconsistent with any other provision herein, 

the provision contained in the addendum shall control, unless otherwise provided in the addendum. 
 

c. Attorneys’ Fees: If any action or proceeding is brought by either party against the other pertaining to or arising out 
of this Lease, the finally prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all costs and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees, incurred on account of such action or proceeding. 

 
d. Captions, Articles and Section Numbers: The captions appearing within the body of this Lease have been inserted as a 

matter of convenience and for reference only and in no way define, limit or enlarge the scope or meaning of this 
Lease.  All references to Article and Section numbers refer to Articles and Sections in this Lease. 

 
e. Changes Requested by Lender: Neither Landlord or Tenant shall unreasonably withhold its consent to changes or 

amendments to this Lease requested by the lender on Landlord’s interest, so long as these changes do not alter 
the basic business terms of this Lease or otherwise materially diminish any rights or materially increase any 
obligations of the party from whom consent to such charge or amendment is requested. 

 
f. Choice of Law: This Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California. 

 
g. Consent: Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall have no claim, and 

hereby waives the right to any claim against Landlord for money damages by reason of any refusal, withholding or 
delaying by Landlord of any consent, approval or statement of satisfaction, and in such event, Tenant’s only 
remedies therefore shall be an action for specific performance, injunction or declaratory judgment to enforce any 
right to such consent, etc. 

 
h. Corporate Authority: If Tenant is a corporation, each individual signing this Lease on behalf of Tenant represents 

and warrants that he is duly authorized to execute and deliver this lease on behalf of the corporation, and that 
this Lease is binding on Tenant in accordance with its terms.  Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, deliver a 
certified copy of a resolution of its board of directors authorizing such execution. 

 
 i. Counterparts: This Lease may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall constitute one and the same 

Lease. 
 
 j. Execution of Lease; No Option: The submission of this Lease to Tenant shall be for examination purposes only, and 

does not and shall not constitute a reservation of or option for Tenant to lease, or otherwise create any interest of 
Tenant in the Premises or any other premises within the Building or Project.  Execution of this Lease by Tenant 
and its return to Landlord shall not be binding on Landlord notwithstanding any time interval, until Landlord 
has in fact signed and delivered this Lease to Tenant. 

 
k.   Furnishing of Financial Statements; Tenant’s Representations: In order to induce Landlord to enter into this Lease, Tenant 

agrees that it shall promptly furnish Landlord, from time to time, upon Landlord’s written request, with financial 

Page 125 of 146



 

17 

 

  

 

statements reflecting Tenant’s current financial condition.  Tenant represents and warrants that all financial 
statements, records and information furnished by Tenant to Landlord in connection with this Lease are true, 
correct and complete in all respects. 

 
l.   Further Assurances: The parties agree to promptly sign all documents reasonably requested to give effect to the 

provisions of this Lease. 
 

m.   Mortgagee Protection: Tenant agrees to send by certified or registered mail to any first mortgagee or first deed of 
trust beneficiary of Landlord whose address has been furnished to Tenant, a copy of any notice of default served 
by Tenant on Landlord.  If Landlord fails to cure such default within the time provided for in this Lease, such 
mortgagee or beneficiary shall have an additional thirty (30) days to cure such default; provided that if such 
default cannot reasonably be cured within that thirty (30) day period, then such mortgagee or beneficiary shall 
have such additional time to cure the default as is reasonably necessary under the circumstances. 

 
n.   Prior Agreements; Amendments: This Lease contains all of the agreements of the parties with respect to any matter 

covered or mentioned in this Lease, and no prior agreement or understanding pertaining to any such matter shall 
be effective for any purpose.  No provisions of this Lease may be amended or added to except by an agreement in 
writing signed by the parties or their respective successors in interest. 

 
o.   Recording: Tenant shall not record this Lease without the prior written consent of Landlord.  Tenant, upon the 

request of Landlord, shall execute and acknowledge a “short form” memorandum of this Lease for recording 
purposes. 

 
p.   Severability: A final determination by a court of competent jurisdiction that any provision of this Lease is invalid 

shall not affect the validity of any other provision, and any provision so determined to be invalid shall, to the 
extent possible, be construed to accomplish its intended effect. 

 
q.   Successors and Assigns: This Lease shall apply to and bind the heirs, personal representatives, and permitted 

successors and assigns of the parties. 
 

r.   Time of the Essence: Time is of the essence of this Lease. 
 

s.   Waiver: No delay or omission in the exercise of any right or remedy of Landlord upon any default by Tenant shall 
impair such right or remedy or be construed as a waiver of such default. 

 
t.   Compliance: The parties hereto agree to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, regulations, codes, 

ordinances and administrative orders having jurisdiction over the parties, property or the subject matter of this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 1964 Civil Rights Act and all amendments thereto, the Foreign 
Investment In Real Property Tax Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability 
Act, and The Americans With Disabilities Act. 

 
The receipt and acceptance by Landlord of delinquent Rent shall not constitute a waiver of any other default; it shall 
constitute only a waiver of timely payment for the particular Rent payment involved. 
 
No act or conduct of Landlord, including, without limitation, the acceptance of keys to the Premises, shall constitute an 
acceptance of the surrender of the Premises by Tenant before the expiration of the Term.  Only a written notice from 
Landlord to Tenant shall constitute acceptance of the surrender of the Premises and accomplish a termination of the 
Lease. 
 
Landlord’s consent to or approval of any act by Tenant requiring Landlord’s consent or approval shall not be deemed to 
waive or render unnecessary Landlord’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act by Tenant. 
 
Any waiver by Landlord of any default must be in writing and shall not be a waiver of any other default concerning the 
same or other provision of the Lease. 
 
The parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the dates set forth below. 
 
 Date:  __________________    Date:  ________________________   
 
 Landlord: _Desert Healthcare District   Tenant:  _________________________________      
 
    dba: Las Palmas Medical Plaza_______  
 
 By:    _ Conrado Bárzaga_______________               By:   __________________                                   
 
        
 Signature:       __                                     Signature: ___________                                   
 

Page 126 of 146



 

18 

 

  

 

 Title:  CEO     Title:   _____________    

 

CONSULT YOUR ADVISORS This document has been prepared for approval by your attorney.  No representation or 
recommendation is made as to the legal sufficiency or tax consequences of this document or the transaction to which 
it relates.  These are questions for your attorney. 

In any real estate transaction, it is recommended that you consult with a professional, such as a civil engineer, industrial 
hygienist or other person, with experience in evaluating the condition of the property, including the possible presence of 
asbestos, hazardous materials and underground storage tanks. 

Page 127 of 146



 

19 

 

  

 

 EXHIBIT “A” 
 
 RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 
1.  No sign, placard, pictures, advertisement, name or notice shall be inscribed, displayed or printed or affixed on or 

to any part of the outside or inside of the Building without the written consent of Landlord first had and obtained 
and Landlord shall have the right to remove any such sign, placard, picture, advertisement, name or notice 
without notice to and at the expense of Tenant. 

 
All approved signs or lettering on doors shall be printed, painted, affixed, or inscribed at the expense of Tenant 
by a person approved by Landlord outside the Premises; provided, however, that Landlord may furnish and install 
a Building standard window covering at all exterior windows.  Tenant shall not, without prior written consent of 
Landlord, cause or otherwise sunscreen any window. 

 
2.  The sidewalks, halls, passages, exits, entrances, elevators and stairways shall not be obstructed by any of the 

tenants or used by them for any purpose other than for ingress and egress from their respective Premises. 
 
3. Tenant shall not alter any lock or install any new or additional locks or any bolts on any doors or windows of the 

Premises. 
 
4.  The toilet rooms, urinals, wash bowls and other apparatus shall not be used for any purpose other than that for 

which they were constructed and no foreign substance of any kind whatsoever shall be thrown therein and the 
expense of any breakage, stoppage or damage resulting from the violation of the rule shall be borne by the Tenant 
who, or whose employees or invitees, shall have caused it. 

 
5.  Tenant shall not overload the floor of the Premises or in any way deface the Premises or any part thereof. 
 
6.  No furniture, freight or equipment of any kind shall be brought into the Building without the prior notice to 

Landlord and all moving of the same into or out of the Building shall be done at such time and in such manner as 
Landlord shall designate.  Landlord shall have the right to prescribe the weight, size and position of all safes and 
other heavy equipment brought into the Building and also the times and manner of moving the same in and out of 
the Building.  Safes or other heavy objects shall, if considered necessary by Landlord, stand on supports of such 
thickness as is necessary to properly distribute the weight.  Landlord will not be responsible for loss of or damage 
to any such safe or property from any cause and all damage done to the Building by moving or maintaining any 
such safe or other property shall be repaired at the expense of Tenant. 

 
7.  Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any foul or noxious gas or substances in the Premises, or 

permit or suffer the Premises to be occupied or used in a manner offensive or objectionable to the Landlord or 
other occupants of the Building by reason of noise, odors and/or vibrations, or interfere in any way with other 
tenants or those having business therein, nor shall any animals or birds be brought in or kept in or about the 
Premises of the Building. 

 
8.  No cooking shall be done or permitted by any Tenant on the Premises, nor shall the Premises be used for storage 

of merchandise, for washing clothes, for lodging or for any improper, objectionable or immoral purposes. 
 
9.  Tenant shall not use or keep in the Premises or the Building any kerosene, gasoline or inflammable or 

combustible fluid or material, or use any method of heating or air conditioning other than that supplied by 
Landlord. 

 
10.  Landlord will direct electricians as to where and how telephone and telegraph wires are to be introduced.  No 

boring or cutting for wires will be allowed without the consent of the Landlord.  The location of telephones, call 
boxes and other office equipment affixed to the Premises shall be subject to the approval of Landlord. 

 
11.  On Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, and on other days between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. the 

following day, access to the Building or to the halls, corridors, elevators or stairways in the Building, or to the 
Premises may be refused unless the person seeking access is known to the person or employee of the Building in 
charge and has a pass or is properly identified.  The Landlord shall in no case be liable for damages for any error 
with regard to the admission to or exclusion from the Building of any person.  In case of invasion, mob, riot, 
public excitement, or other commotion, the Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building during 
the continuance of the same by closing of the doors or otherwise, for the safety of the tenants and protection of 
property in the Building and the Building. 

 
12.  Landlord reserves the right to exclude or expel from the Building any person who, in the judgment of Landlord, is 

intoxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs, or who shall in any manner do any act in violation of any of 
the rules and regulations of the Building. 

 
13.  No vending machine or machines of any description shall be installed, maintained or operated upon the Premises 

without the written consent of the Landlord. 
 

Page 128 of 146



 

20 

 

  

 

14.  Landlord shall have the right, exercisable without notice and without liability to Tenant, to change the name and 
street address of the Building of which the Premises are a part. 

 
15.  Tenant shall not disturb, solicit, or canvass any occupant of the Building and shall cooperate to prevent same. 
 
16.  Without the written consent of Landlord, Tenant shall not use the name of the Building in connection with or in 

promoting or advertising the business of Tenant except as Tenant’s address.  
 
17.  Landlord shall have the right to control and operate the public portions of the Building, and the public facilities, 

and heating and air conditioning, as well as facilities furnished for the common use of the tenants, in such manner 
as it deems best for the benefit of the tenants generally. 

 
18.  All entrance doors in the Premises shall be left locked when the Premises are not in use, and all doors opening to 

public corridors shall be kept closed except for normal ingress and egress from the Premises. 
 
 
 
 
  _____________________     ______________________ 
  Landlord’s Initials     Tenant’s Initials 
 
 
         
        

Page 129 of 146



 

21 

 

 

 

ADDENDUM 
 

Addendum to that certain Office Building Lease dated _November 1, 2019__ by and between Desert Healthcare 
District doing business as the Las Palmas Medical Plaza, as Landlord and Laboratory Corporation of America, as 

Tenant for the property commonly known as Las Palmas Medical Plaza located 555 E. Tachevah Drive, Palm 
Springs, California 92262. 

 
 
 
Page 1                               
 

 
 
 In the event of any inconsistency between the Addendum language and the body of the Lease, the Addendum 

language shall prevail. 
 
 
1. Commencement Date: November 1, 2019      
 
2. Expiration Date:   October 31, 2022   

 
3. Rent Schedule:  11/1/2019 – 10/31/2020 $3,410.00  

   11/1/2020 – 10/31/2021 $3,495.25  Greater of 2.5% or CPI  
    11/1/2021 – 10/31/2022 $3,582.63 Greater of 2.5% or CPI  
 
    

4. CAMs:    Currently $.62 per square foot. 
 

5. Security Deposit:   Zero and 00/100 Dollars ($00.00). 
 
      
 

 
 
 

 
 

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted: 
 
 
 Date:      __________________                                     Date:  __________________                             __  
 
 Landlord:    Desert Healthcare District                      Tenant:  ___________________________________________ 
 
   dba: Las Palmas Medical Plaza_ 
 
 By:  _ Conrado Bárzaga                                        By:   ____________            ________                     
 
        
 Signature:   _________                                        Signature:             __________                        
       
 Title:  CEO          ______                    Title:  ___________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 130 of 146



 

 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE 

D I S T R I C T & F O U N D A T I O N  

 

 
 
Date:             October 8, 2019 

 
To:             Finance & Administration Committee 

 
Subject:           Fire Sprinkler Alarm System – Las Palmas Medical Plaza 
 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: Consideration to approve service proposal from Comtron Systems, 
Inc. for installation of fire sprinkler monitoring system at the Las Palmas Medical Plaza 

 
 

Background: 

• Desert Healthcare District previously engaged the services of D.W. Johnston to 

upgrade the fire sprinkler system and infrastructure at the Las Palmas Medical 

Plaza 

• D.W. Johnston successfully connected the infrastructure from the street to the 

previously unconnected buildings on the property 

• The final step in the fire sprinkler upgrade and installation process is the connection 

of the alarm system 

• Comtron Systems, Inc. has submitted a proposal for 2 options for the installation of 

a fire sprinkler alarm system, including monthly monitoring 

• Option 1 – install one (1) monitor and connect with conduit to second building 

• Option 2 – install two (2) monitors, one monitor at each building  

• The installation cost is relatively similar. However, Option 1 requires monthly 

monitoring service for one (1) monitor at $75 per month, while Option 2 requires 

monitoring for two (2) monitors at $150 per month.  

• Staff recommends approval of Option 1 

• Draft proposal is attached for your review  
 

Fiscal Impact: 
 
Option 1 –  Installation;   $7,750  
  Conduit installation:  $2,000 (estimated) 
  Monitoring fee:  $75/month 
 
Option 2 –  Installation;   $9,500  
  Monitoring fee:  $150/month 
 
 

Page 131 of 146



 - 1 - 

October 1st, 2019 

 

 

 

Desert Healthcare District 

1140 N Indian Canyon Drive 

Palm Springs, CA 92262 

Phone: 760-323-6365 

Email: cchristensen@dhcd.org 

               Proposed Location: 

               Las Palmas Medical Plaza 

                 555 Tachevah Drive  

               Palm Springs, Ca 92262  

Dear Chris 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to offer our proposal on your Fire Sprinkler Monitoring System needs at the 

above location. 

 

OPTION 1 – Master Control Communicator installed at Building 3W and connecting to Building 2W 

 

SCOPE OF WORK FOR SEPARATE FIRE SPRINKLER MONITORING SYSTEM  

                AT BUILDING 3W 

SINGLE STORY 

 
 

QUANTITY    ITEM             DESCRIPTION 
 

  (1)         VISTA32FB        Master Control Communicator 

                                      8 Zones (FACP) 
 

       (1)         6160CR                 Alpha Annunciator Keypad 
   
    (1)         YANP712            Yuasa 7AH Rechargeable Battery 
 

 (1)   2WB    Smoke Detectors 

         Located: 

(1) Above FACP 
 

    (1)         WFIC              Water Flow Initiation Circuit* (Contact Closer Only) 

 

 (1)   Butterfly   Butter Fly Tamper Circuit* (Contact Closer Only) 

 

(1)   AES    Leased Fire Radio Communication  
         (*$30.00 per month for Communication-Value of $1,499.00)  
 

Cost for installation of Building Fire System with Monitoring-:       $4,250.00 
*   Requires a five-year monitoring agreement.   Monthly monitoring $45, billed quarterly. 
Total price with Monitoring and communication Monthly $75.00  billed quarterly  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132 of 146



 - 2 - 

 

 

 

 

 

SCOPE OF WORK FOR FIRE SPRINKLER MONITORING SYSTEM ADDED 

                    TO ONE STORY SYSTEM AT BUILDING 3W 

 

TWO STORY ADD-ON 

 

QUANTITY    ITEM             DESCRIPTION 

 

 

 

    (1)         WFIC            Tie in Water Flow Initiation Circuit west building (Contact Closer Only) 

 

 (1)   Butterfly Butter Fly Tamper Circuit* (Contact Closer Only) 

 

 (1)   601   Heat detector in elevator equipment Room for Shunt (Contact Closer Only) 

Elevator Company and Electricians will be responsible for Electro-mechanical 

shut down of elevator upon initiation of Heat detector. 

 

 (1)   2WB  Smoke Detector in elevator Room 

 

 

Cost for installation of Building Fire System with Monitoring-:       $3,500.00 

*Note: Customer will be responsible for conduit connecting the two buildings for integration of Fire 

Alarm System 

 

TOTAL OPTION 1 

 Installation:  $7,750 

 Monitoring:  $75 per month 

 Conduit Connection: will be installed with landscape (estimated $2,000) 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133 of 146



 - 3 - 

 

OPTION 2 – 2 Master Control Communicators installed at Building 3W and Building 2W 
 

 

SCOPE OF WORK FOR SEPARATE FIRE SPRINKLER MONITORING SYSTEM  

                AT BUILDING 3W 

SINGLE STORY 

 
 

QUANTITY    ITEM             DESCRIPTION 
 

  (1)         VISTA32FB        Master Control Communicator 

                                      8 Zones (FACP) 
 

       (1)         6160CR                 Alpha Annunciator Keypad 
   
    (1)         YANP712            Yuasa 7AH Rechargeable Battery 
 

 (1)   2WB    Smoke Detectors 

         Located: 

(2) Above FACP 
 

    (1)         WFIC              Water Flow Initiation Circuit* (Contact Closer Only) 

 

 (1)   Butterfly   Butter Fly Tamper Circuit* (Contact Closer Only) 

 

(1)   AES    Leased Fire Radio Communication  
         (*$30.00 per month for Communication-Value of $1,499.00)  
 

Cost for installation of Building Fire System with Monitoring-:       $4,250.00 
*   Requires a five-year monitoring agreement.   Monthly monitoring $45, billed quarterly. 
Total price with Monitoring and communication Monthly $75.00  billed quarterly  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134 of 146



 - 4 - 

 

 

SCOPE OF WORK FOR SEPARATE FIRE SPRINKLER MONITORING SYSTEM  

                 AT BUILDING 2W 

TWO STORY 
 

 
 

QUANTITY    ITEM             DESCRIPTION 
 

  (1)         VISTA32FB        Master Control Communicator 

                                      8 Zones (FACP) 
 

       (1)         6160CR                 Alpha Annunciator Keypad 
   
    (1)         YANP712            Yuasa 7AH Rechargeable Battery 
 

 (1)   2WB    Smoke Detectors 

         Located: 

(1) Above FACP 

 

      (1)         WFIC            Tie in Water Flow Initiation Circuit west building (Contact Closer Only) 

 

 (1)   Butterfly Butter Fly Tamper Circuit* (Contact Closer Only) 

 

 (1)   601   Heat detector in elevator equipment Room for Shunt (Contact Closer Only) 

Elevator Company and Electricians will be responsible for Electro-mechanical 

shut down of elevator upon initiation of Heat detector. 

 

 (1)   2WB  Smoke Detector in elevator Room 

 

(1)   AES  Leased Fire Radio Communication  
       (*$30.00 per month for Communication-Value of $1,499.00)  
 

Cost for installation of Building Fire System with Monitoring-:       $5,250.00 
*   Requires a five-year monitoring agreement.   Monthly monitoring $45, billed quarterly. 

Total price with Monitoring and communication Monthly $75.00  billed quarterly      

 

TOTAL OPTION 2 

 Installation:  $9,500 

 Monitoring:  $150 per month 

 

This system includes installation of all the above components, as well as the prewire.  There is a one-year 

warranty for all materials furnished and all labor performed. 

 

If I may be of any assistance, please feel free to give me a call at (760) 776-8811. 

Cordially; 

 

Andrew Sorensen 

Comtron Systems, Inc.  
 
 

Page 135 of 146



 - 5 - 

 
ADDENDUM 

 
 

Comtron is responsible for: 

 

1)  Supplying all equipment necessary to complete the job. 

 

2)  Wiring for Fire Alarm System. 

 

3)  Installing Rough-In Boxes. 

 

4)  Permit and Submittals for the Fire Inspector. 

 

 

 

 

Responsibilities Of Others: 

 

1)  Access to Building during regular business hours. 

 

2)  Architectural and plot plan blue-line drawing for 

    preparation of Fire Submittals. 

 

3)  All Conduit. 

 

4)  Provide A/C Power to building. 

 

5.) N/A 

 

6)  Provide Knox box. 

 

7)  Provide PIV and OS&Y supervisory switches. 

 

8)  Provide Water Flow initiation switches. 

 

9)  Provide HAVC Duct Detectors and Dampers. 

 

10) Provide door holders. 

 

11) Water Flow Bells 

 

Page 136 of 146



 

 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE 

D I S T R I C T & F O U N D A T I O N  

 

 
 
Date:             October 8, 2019 

 
To:             Finance & Administration Committee 

 
Subject:           Political Consultants for a potential Tenet Transaction for the Sale of DRMC 
 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: Discussion regarding consulting services for a political consultant 
should a Tenet transaction develop for a sale of Desert Regional Medical Center (DRMC) 

 
 

Background: 

• July 14, 2019, Tenet submitted a proposal to purchase Desert Regional Medical 

Center from the Desert Healthcare District (DHCD).  

• July 25, 2019, the proposal was presented to the Board of Directors. 

• The Board requested Tenet bring back a more substantial proposal. 

• A service agreement with Kaufman Hall was approved to work with DHCD 

regarding the proposal.  

• An ad hoc committee was formed and is working with Staff, the District’s legal 

counsel, and Kaufman Hall.  

• Should a future Tenet proposal be agreeable to the Board of Directors, DHCD will 

engage a political consultant to determine the feasibility of placing an initiative on 

either the March or November 2020 election ballot.  

• Phase 1 Feasibility – the Consultant will provide guidance to the Board in 

strategizing a potential ballot initiative. Polling and focus groups will be conducted 

as part of this phase. 

• A service agreement can be structured to authorize Phase 1 Feasibility only. 

• If the ballot initiative is deemed feasible, the Board may then authorize the 

Consultant to create a program to educate the public on the potential sale (Phase 2). 

• Staff recommends direction from the Committee to bring forward consulting 

agreements for consideration of approval for a Political Consultant. 
 

Fiscal Impact: 
Estimated Costs: 
 Phase 1 - Feasibility    $  70,000 
  

Phase 2 - Education Program*      $115,000  
 Total               $185,000 
 
*Phase 2 awarded only if ballot initiative is deemed feasible and the Board authorizes 
moving forward with an Education Program. 

Page 137 of 146



 

 
 

DESERT HEALTHCARE 

D I S T R I C T & F O U N D A T I O N  

 

 
 
Date:  October 8, 2019 

 
To:  Finance and Administration Committee 

 
Subject:           Policy Map Subscriber Agreement   
 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: Information regarding a 15-month Policy Map Premium 

Subscriber Agreement.  
 

Background: PolicyMap offers easy-to-use online mapping with data on demographics, 

real estate, health, jobs and more in communities across the US. PolicyMap can be used as 

a single point of entry to evaluate trends, access benchmarks, and strategically target 

interventions designed to improve health outcomes.  
 

PolicyMap contains a wide array of community-level health data, ranging from incidence 

of diseases and chronic conditions, to locations of health infrastructure, to key social 

determinants of health. PolicyMap uses more than 150 authoritative public and proprietary 

data sources with the ability to access over 37,000 data indicators.  

 

The DHCD will benefit from PolicyMap by continuing to strengthen its leadership and 

partnerships in local health and wellness issues by having access to a reliable and current 

data platform. The inclusion of PolicyMap onto the DHCD website will also increase 

traffic to our website. PolicyMap will be a valuable tool for local community-based 

organizations and other service providers in their efforts to access and interpret reliable 

data sets, thus making their funding requests, programming, and allocation of resources 
more data-driven.  

 

Fiscal Impact:  $5005.54 for a 15-month Premium Subscription – the FY20 Annual 

Budget will accommodate the subscription.  
 

Page 138 of 146



2019-01-01 Subscriber Agreement 

 

PolicyMap, Inc 
1315 Walnut Street ●Suite 1500● Philadelphia, PA 19107 ● U.S.A. 

Phone 215.574.5800 ● Fax 215.574.5900 ● Email info@policymap.com 

Premium Subscriber Agreement 

Order Form 
  

Effective Date: October 1, 2019  

Premium Subscriber 

Subscriber  Desert Healthcare District and Foundation 

Type of organization Government/Healthcare 

Postal Address  

Street Address  

City/State/Province  

Zip/Postal Code  

Country USA 

Primary Contact for Subscriber  

Name   Address  

Title   City  

Telephone   State/Province  

Fax   Zip/Postal Code  

Email   Country  

Billing Contact (if different) 

Name   Address  

Title   City  

Telephone   State/Province  

Fax   Zip/Postal Code  

Email   Country  

Subscription 

Subscription Type PolicyMap Premium Subscription 

Effective Date October 1, 2019 

Start Date October 1, 2019 

Initial Term 15 months: October 1, 2019 to December 31, 2020 

Renewal Term(s) One year each 

Fees (USD$) See Schedule A 

Payment Terms License Fee Amount due within 45 days of signing. Fees for each Renewal Term will be invoiced 60 

days in advance. 

  

Authorized Users Up to 10 Authorized Users permitted, each of whom must be named and email address provided: 

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Authorized User   Email  

Page 139 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 2 

Signatures 

The parties execute this Premium Subscriber Agreement, which consists of this Order Form and any other Order Forms signed 

by the parties, and the Terms and Conditions, as of the Effective Date. 

 

PolicyMap PolicyMap, Inc   Premium 

Subscriber 

Desert Healthcare District and Foundation 

     

Signature   Signature  

Name Maggie McCullough  Name  

Title CEO  Title  

Date   Date  

  

Page 140 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 3 

 

PolicyMap, Inc 

Premium Subscriber Agreement 

Terms and Conditions 
 

This Premium Subscriber Agreement including the attached Schedules hereto (collectively, “Agreement”) is made and entered 

into as of the Effective Date set forth on the Order Form, by and between PolicyMap, Inc (“PolicyMap”), a Pennsylvania Benefit 

Corporation, and the individual or entity identified in the Order Form (“Subscriber”). This Agreement and the terms of use (the 

“Terms of Use”) on PolicyMap’s website and services (collectively, the “Service”) shall govern the terms and conditions of 

Subscriber’s access to and use of the Service, including the use of the data and other information available on the Service. If 

applicable, this Agreement also covers the use of software provided by PolicyMap (the “Widget”). 

 

1. LICENSE AND PERMITTED USES 

 

1.1. The Service includes and provides access to and use of PolicyMap’s data warehouse and mapping tools to provide 

Subscriber with online access to data, tables, charts, reports and maps, all of which are the proprietary and intellectual 

properties of PolicyMap and its suppliers. The Service is protected by the terms of this Agreement as well as domestic 

and foreign contractual and intellectual property laws including but not limited to copyright, trademark, patent, and trade 

secret laws. Access to and use of the Service shall be governed by the terms of this Agreement and the Terms of Use. 

 

1.2. Upon both parties signing this Agreement, and subject to PolicyMap receiving payment in full, PolicyMap grants to 

Subscriber a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable, limited license to access and use the Service for the 

term of the subscription as identified in the Order Form (unless this Agreement or the Terms of Use are terminated 

sooner) for Subscriber’s internal business purposes only. Subscriber will identify each user (each, an “Authorized User”) 

in the Order Form or by any other process identified by PolicyMap. The number of Authorized Users may not exceed 

the limit stated in the applicable Order Form. Subscriber is responsible for the actions and omissions of its Authorized 

Users as if they were the actions and omissions of Subscriber. 

 

1.3. Subscriber and its Authorized Users may not do any of the following that PolicyMap specifies as prohibited (each, a 

“Prohibited Use”), including but not limited to:  

 

1.3.1. Decompile, reverse engineer, disassemble or create derivative works of the Service; 

 

1.3.2.  Remove or obscure any proprietary notices including, but not limited to, any and all copyright, trademark and 

patent designations contained in the Service; 

 

1.3.3. Use the Service for advertising or exploitation 

 

1.3.4. Rental, lease, sell or resell the Service or access to the Service or use of the Service; 

 

1.3.5. Market, sell or make commercial use of the Service other than for Subscriber’s own, direct benefit; or  

 

1.3.6. Systematically collect and use any data or information on or from the Service, including by means of any 

data spiders, robots, or similar data gathering, mining or extraction methods. 

 

1.4. Subscriber may provide PolicyMap with datasets for upload, as listed in Schedule A (“Subscriber Data”). The 

Subscriber Data (if any) will only be made available through Subscriber’s own internal access and will not be 

redistributed to the public, unless specified otherwise by the Subscriber. PolicyMap will take reasonable steps to treat 

all Subscriber Data uploaded into PolicyMap on behalf of Subscriber as private and confidential. All right, title and 

interest in and to the Subscriber Data shall be retained by Subscriber. If Subscriber wishes to change the confidential 

treatment of Subscriber Data, Subscriber must notify PolicyMap in writing.  

 

1.5.  If Subscriber has opted to have a PolicyMap Widget made available for use on Subscriber’s website or other services 

(as noted on Schedule A), the following terms apply: 

 

1.5.1. Subscriber and its Authorized User may use the Widget to create interactive maps for the Subscriber’s 

website. 

 

1.5.2. PolicyMap will provide Subscriber with the ability to display certain data from the PolicyMap platform 

within its own website through the delivery of an iframe code to embed on its website.  

 

1.5.3.  If stated in Schedule A or otherwise agreed by the parties, PolicyMap will provide Subscriber with the ability 

to use the Widget to display Subscriber Data. 

 

Page 141 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 4 

1.5.4.  Current uses of the Widget as of the Effective Date include building and searching a map by address, city, 

county, zip code, MSA, Congressional district and school district. In addition, Authorized Users will be able 

to pan and zoom, click on a map to see values, print low or high resolution maps, and download data via the 

Widget. PolicyMap reserves the right to modify the Widget during the term of this Agreement. 

 

1.5.5. PolicyMap will use commercially reasonable efforts make the PolicyMap platform and the Widget available 

via Subscriber’s website, as detailed in the accompanying document entitled “PolicyMap Platform 

Availability and Data Security”. 

 

1.6. All trade names, marks, logos, page headers, custom graphics, button icons and domain names (collectively, 

“Trademarks”) of each party remain the Trademarks of such party. Each party grants the other party sufficient rights to 

use the other party’s Trademarks solely to implement this Agreement and advertise the business relationship between 

the parties. Any and all goodwill generated by use of a Trademark owned by a party shall be for the benefit of that 

party. 

 

2. SUBSCRIBER’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

 

2.1. Subscriber represents, warrants and covenants that Subscriber and its Authorized Users will: 

 

2.1.1. use the Service in accordance with this Agreement and the Terms of Use;  

 

2.1.2. at all times comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in using the Service; 

 

2.1.3. not knowingly or otherwise introduce to or through the Service any viruses or other items of a destructive 

nature. 

 

2.2 Subscriber represents, warrants and covenants that the Subscriber Data does not violate or infringe the intellectual 

property rights or other rights of any third party.  

 

3. OBLIGATIONS 

 

3.1. PolicyMap will offer reasonable levels of continuing support to assist Subscriber and its Authorized Users in the use of 

the Service. PolicyMap will provide a help page accessible to all Authorized Users on the the Service. The help page 

will provide access to materials, which may include a training manual, video tutorials and a help blog, as well as access 

to PolicyMap’s help desk via email or telephone. PolicyMap’s sole liability and Subscriber’s sole remedy for any 

breach of PolicyMap’s warranties is that PolicyMap will use reasonable efforts to promptly correct any failure of the 

Service to operate in the manner documented by PolicyMap in the help pages and written documentation created and 

provided by PolicyMap. 

 

3.2. PolicyMap will provide appropriate training to Subscriber and its Authorized Users relating to the use of the Service. 

PolicyMap will provide regular system and project updates to Subscriber as they become available. 

 

3.3. Access to the Service shall be controlled by PolicyMap through Internet Protocol (“IP”) addresses or other methods at 

PolicyMap’s sole discretion. Subscriber shall be responsible for providing lists of valid sets of IP addresses to 

PolicyMap, and updating such lists if needed. For the avoidance of doubt, Subscriber is responsible for establishing and 

maintaining hardware and Internet access to the Service.  

 

3.4. Subscriber shall use reasonable efforts to limit the Service access to its Authorized Users. If a party learns of any 

Prohibited Uses, it will notify the other party, and the parties will thereafter cooperate to identify and use reasonable 

efforts to terminate the Prohibited Use. PolicyMap may suspend access to the Service while diagnosing and trying to 

resolve any Prohibited Use, in which case, PolicyMap shall use reasonable efforts to contact the Subscriber prior to any 

suspension of access and, if applicable, to restore access promptly following successful resolution of the matter.  

 

3.5. As part of the subscription process, Subscriber (through its Authorized Users) shall maintain a password and a 

subscriber ID. Subscriber shall provide PolicyMap with certain registration information, all of which must be accurate 

and updated as appropriate. Subscriber shall be responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of all passwords of 

Subscriber and its Authorized Users. Subscriber shall immediately notify PolicyMap of any known or suspected breach 

of security, including loss, theft or unauthorized disclosure of a password.  

 

3.6. Subscriber is responsible for all usage or activity with Subscriber’s subscription, including, but not limited to, use of 

Services by any Authorized User. In the event Subscriber wishes to delete or substitute Authorized Users, Subscriber 

shall notify PolicyMap in accordance with PolicyMap’s current process, and PolicyMap will then cancel any deleted ID 

and password, or substitute one Authorized User for a new one. By adding Authorized Users beyond the upper limit 

stated on the Order Form, Subscriber consents to paying the additional fees then charged by PolicyMap for the larger 

number of Authorized Users. 

Page 142 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 5 

 

3.7. The Service contains Terms of Use that notify Authorized Users of the Permitted Uses and Prohibited Uses. Authorized 

Users will not be required to click-through the Terms of Use in order to access the Service.  

 

3.8. PolicyMap makes reasonable efforts to remain compliant with Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 

§794d), as amended.  

 

3.9. Each party (the “Indemnitor”) agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the other party (the “Indemnitee”) for any losses, 

claims, damages, awards, penalties, or injuries incurred by the Indemnitee (including reasonable attorney’s fees) that 

result from a third party’s allegations or claims that the Indemnitor infringed the copyright or other intellectual property 

rights of the third party bringing the claim (“Claim”). The Indemnitee shall promptly notify the Indemnitor in writing of 

any Claim. The Indemnitor shall have the sole right to defend such Claims at its own expense, while the Indemnitee shall 

provide, at the Indemnitor’s expense, such assistance in investigating and defending such Claims as the Indemnitor may 

reasonably request. After the Indemnitor accepts the Claim, an Indemnitee may have its counsel assist counsel for the 

Indemnitor in an advisory capacity at the Indemnitee’s sole cost and expense. This indemnity shall survive the termination 

of this Agreement. 

 

4. DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY 

 

4.1 SUBSCRIBER AGREES THAT USE OF THE SERVICE AND THE WIDGET IS AT SUBSCRIBER’S SOLE RISK. 

THE SERVICE IS PROVIDED ON AN "AS-IS" AND "AS AVAILABLE" BASIS. POLICYMAP IS NOT 

RESPONSIBLE FOR PRINTING, TYPOGRAPHICAL OR OTHER ERRORS.  

 

4.2 NEITHER POLICYMAP NOR ANY OF POLICYMAP’S LICENSORS, SUPPLIERS OR BUSINESS PARTNERS 

REPRESENT OR WARRANT THAT THE SERVICE WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR-FREE, OR THAT 

DEFECTS, IF ANY, WILL BE CORRECTED; NOR DOES POLICYMAP OR ITS SUPPLIERS OR BUSINESS 

PARTNERS MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES ABOUT THE ACCURACY, RELIABILITY, 

CURRENCY, QUALITY, PERFORMANCE OR SUITABILITY OF THE SERVICE OR ANY DATA.  

 

4.3 EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMISSIBLE 

PURSUANT TO APPLICABLE LAW, POLICYMAP AND EACH OF POLICYMAP’S SUPPLIERS AND BUSINESS 

PARTNERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, 

BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF TITLE, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A 

PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. 

 

4.4 UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL POLICYMAP OR ANY OF POLICYMAP’S SUPPLIERS, BUSINESS 

PARTNERS, EMPLOYEES, DIRECTORS, OFFICERS OR AGENTS, BE LIABLE FOR ANY, PUNITIVE, 

EXEMPLARY, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT OR SPECIAL DAMAGES ARISING FROM OR IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE SERVICE, REGARDLESS OF ANY THEORY OF BREACH OF CONTRACT, 

NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE 

POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.  

 

4.5 In the event that PolicyMap is liable for any damages directly arising in connection with the Service, the Widget, or this 

Agreement, the aggregate liability of PolicyMap shall not exceed the amounts actually paid to PolicyMap by Subscriber, 

if any, for the one-year period preceding the first event that gave rise to such damages. 

 

4.6 APPLICABLE LAW MAY NOT ALLOW THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SET FORTH ABOVE, SO THESE 

LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY MAY NOT APPLY TO SUBSCRIBER. THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SET 

FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE INDEPENDENT AND SHALL SURVIVE ANY FAILURE OF ANY REMEDY 

(EXCLUSIVE OR OTHERWISE). 

 

5. TERM, TYPE AND PRICE 

 

5.1. The term of Subscriber’s subscription and start date are stated on the Order Form (the “Initial Term”); provided that 

Subscriber’s subscription shall not be activated unless and until PolicyMap is in receipt of a fully-executed copy of this 

Agreement. PolicyMap will provide Subscriber an opportunity to renew the subscription 60 days prior to the expiration 

of this Agreement at PolicyMap’s then-current prices (each, a “Renewal Term”) or any previously agreed to price as 

noted on the Order Form. The Initial Term and any Renewal Terms shall be collectively referred to as the “Term.” If 

Subscriber chooses not to renew its subscription, it must notify PolicyMap within 30 days of the expiration of the Term 

in order to cancel the subscription. If PolicyMap does not receive notice of cancellation 30 days prior to termination, the 

subscription will automatically renew for another Renewal Term. 

5.2. In the event that either party believes that the other party materially has breached any obligations under this Agreement, 

or if PolicyMap believes that the Subscriber has exceeded the scope of the license granted by this Agreement, the non-

breaching party shall notify the breaching party in writing. The breaching party shall have ten (10) calendar days from 

Page 143 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 6 

the receipt of notice to cure the alleged breach and to notify the non-breaching party in writing that cure has been effected. 

If the breach is not cured within the ten (10) calendar day period, the non-breaching party shall have the right to terminate 

this Agreement without further notice. 

 

5.3. The prices for the Service are listed on each applicable Order Form signed by the parties, and on Schedule A. Unless 

otherwise set forth on an invoice or an Order Form, all fees are due upon receipt of invoice and shall be paid to PolicyMap, 

Inc, 1315 Walnut St, Suite 1500, Philadelphia PA 19107, Attn: Accounts Payable (or any other address subsequently 

specified by PolicyMap) within 45 days of the date of the invoice A late fee of 1.5% will be applied to any invoice not 

paid within 45 days.  

 

6. GENERAL 

 

6.1. Neither party shall assign its rights, duties, or obligations under this Agreement to any person or entity, in whole or in 

part; provided however that either party may assign no less than all of its rights under this Agreement to a successor 

entity as a result of a merger, acquisition or re-organization. Any permitted assignment shall be effective upon receipt 

of written notice by the non-assigning party. 

 

6.2. If any provision of this Agreement is found by any court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 

unenforceable, the invalidity of such provision shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement, and all 

provisions not affected by such invalidity shall remain in full force and effect. Either party’s failure to exercise or 

enforce any right or provision of this Agreement will not be deemed to be a waiver of such right or provision.  

 

6.3. If the Subscriber maintains its principal office in the United States, then the law of the State in which Subscriber’s 

principal office is located, as well as United States federal law, shall govern this Agreement, without reference to any 

conflicts of laws principles. If Subscriber maintains its principal office outside the United States of America, then the 

law of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the federal law of the United States of America, shall govern this 

Agreement, without reference to any conflicts of laws principles. The U.N. Convention on Contracts for the 

International Sales of Goods shall not apply to this Agreement.  

 

6.4 Any controversy or claim between the parties or arising out of this Agreement, its performance or breach shall be 

determined by one arbitrator in binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association pursuant to 

its Commercial Arbitration Rules. The arbitration hearings will be conducted, and all testimony will be entered, via 

audio conference and video conference, and there shall be no in-person hearings. The arbitral award will be final and 

binding on the parties, and may be entered and enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction. However, if Subscriber 

is an institution of a State in the United States, and if the laws of the State require that any dispute be brought in a court 

of the State, then any dispute will be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in that State pursuant to such laws. 

 

  

Page 144 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 7 

 

Schedule A 

Premium Subscription Order Details 

 

Premium Subscription - $5,005.54 per year (though with current discount, initial term covers 15 month period) / 1–10 Authorized 

Users as listed on Order Forms. 

 

Includes: 

 

• All data (public and private datasets) 

• All functionality (mapping, charts, reports, custom regions) 

• Online and group training 

• Ability to self-service upload unlimited amounts of your own address-based data using the spreadsheet data loader. 

• Creation of one (1) interactive map Widget on your internal and/or public facing website(s). 

• PolicyMap data services to geocode up to 5,000 addresses OR create 5 thematic data layers (included in premium 

subscription price).  

 

 

 

  

Total: $5,005.54 

 

 

 

  

Page 145 of 146



2018-05-01 Premium Subscriber Agreement 8 

POLICYMAP  

PLATFORM AVAILABILITY, SUPPORT AND DATA SECURITY 

“Platform Availability” means the percentage of hours in a calendar month that the Service is available, excluding scheduled 

maintenance and/or critical maintenance (“Maintenance”). PolicyMap will use reasonable efforts to make the Service available 

24 hours per day, 7 days per week, with the exception of Maintenance periods. PolicyMap will provide Subscriber notice of any 

Maintenance and will use reasonable efforts to limit extended periods of Maintenance to Saturdays and Sundays, between 11 pm 

and 2 am US Eastern time. Any Service downtime that is explicitly the responsibility of PolicyMap’s hosting provider (initially, 

Amazon), and is acknowledged by the hosting provider, counts as Maintenance time and not against the reimbursement schedule 

below. 

 

If PolicyMap fails to meet the Platform Availability standards during any calendar month, then PolicyMap will provide 

Subscriber a credit as a percentage of that calendar month’s Service Fees (“Credit”) as shown below. Credits may only be applied 

against subsequent Service fees. 

 

Credits based on Platform Availability 

Platform Availability during a Calendar Month Credits 

99.5% - 100.0% -0- 

96.5% - 99.4% 15% of that calendar month’s Service fee 

94.0% - 96.4% 20% of that calendar month’s Service fee 

< 94% 50% of that calendar month’s Service fee 

 

Should the Subscriber’s Service fail to comply with PolicyMap’s documentation (independent of any Platform Availability issues 

pursuant to the above provisions), then Subscriber must promptly contact PolicyMap’s support team by telephone or email to 

request support services (“Support”), and PolicyMap’s Support team will review the notice, assign a level of response (“Level”), 

and respond, as follows.  

 

Level Problem Support Availability Response Time Status Reports 

Level 

One 

Basic administrative request 

or identification of non-

material or non-critical errors 

in the service 

9 am-5 pm Monday-

Friday* 

Acknowledgement of Support request 

within two business days; ticket added 

to current application development 

cycle; resolution in subsequent release. 

None. 

Level 

Two 

Intermittent Service 

availability that is minimally 

disruptive to Service use. 

9 am-5 pm Monday-

Friday* 

Acknowledgement of Support request 

within 12 hours; PolicyMap will devote 

resources to resolve issue; resolve 

ASAP (and if possible no later than 24 

hours after acknowledgement). 

Upon resolution. 

Level 

Three 

Total service unavailability; 

intermittent service 

availability that is materially 

disruptive to service use. 

24 hours/day, 7 

days/week 

Acknowledgement of issue within 1 

hour; resolve ASAP (and if possible no 

later than 12 hours after 

acknowledgement). 

Within 1 hour 

after initiation of 

response; upon 

resolution. 

*All times are US Eastern local time, and available days exclude US federal holidays. For Support requested outside of specified 

hours, requests will be initiated on the next business day. 

 

 

Statement on Data Security:  

 

PolicyMap (which includes all Services including site licenses), and all associated data as of the Effective Date are hosted on 

Amazon's Web Services infrastructure, at a hosting facility located in Northern Virginia. Our database development group 

maintains the security of the Service production application and all associated data via firewall facilities provided by the Amazon 

Web Service. Only ports 80 and 443 are publicly accessible, which is consistent with standard implementation of World Wide 

Web protocols. The software delivering data from these ports is routinely scanned by Security Metrics for PCI compliance or 

compliance with similar metrics.  

 

Administrative access to servers hosting the Service at the hosting provider is currently done through the Secure Shell program 

(also known as SSH) as of the Effective Date, which implements encrypted communication between the administrator and the 

machine being administered. The SSH server is the only mechanism for data to be uploaded to PolicyMap systems at the hosting 

provider, and also the only mechanism for direct administration of the hosting provider’s environment. Access to the SSH 

server's port on all systems is strictly limited to the IP addresses of the PolicyMap offices in Philadelphia, Baltimore and Los 

Angeles, and the ability to access and use the SSH server is limited to those personnel having a need for such access. All 

development personnel are required to sign PolicyMap’s form of nondisclosure agreement. 

Page 146 of 146


	September 10, 2019 F&A Minutes
	CFO Report
	LPMP Leasing Update
	District & LPMP Financial Statements
	A/R Aging Summary
	District Deposits
	District - Property Tax Receipts
	LPMP - Deposits
	District - Check Register
	Credit Card Details
	LPMP - Check Register
	RPP - Update
	Grant Payment Schedule
	FY19 Audit - Management & Comm Letter
	FY19 Audit - District Report
	FY19 Audit - RPP Report
	Staff Report - Auditing Firms RFP
	Auditor RFP Letter Draft
	CPA Firm Mailing List
	Staff Report - LPMP Lease Renewal - LabCorp 3E 104-105
	LabCorp Draft Lease Proposal 3E 104-105
	Staff Report - LPMP Fire Sprinkler Alarm Proposal
	Fire Sprinkler Alarm Proposal - Comtron
	Staff Report - Political Consultant for Potential Hospital Lease/Transaction
	Staff Report - Policy Map
	Policy Map Proposal/Agreement



